SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

2637.

KOVÁCS HAJNAL ANNA

Celluláris és molekuláris élettan című program

Programvezető: Dr. Hunyady László, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Geiszt Miklós, egyetemi tanár

CHARACTERIZATION OF PEROXIDASIN AND PEROXIDASIN-LIKE PROTEINS IN MAMMALIAN CELLS

Ph.D thesis

Hajnal A. Kovács

Molecular Medicine Doctoral School

Semmelweis University



Supervisor:	Miklós Geiszt M.D.,	D.Sc.
Official reviewers:	Beáta Lontay Ph.D. Nikolett Wohner M.D)., Ph.D.
Head of the Final Exan	nination Committee:	Gábor Varga D.Sc.

Members of the Final Examination Committee:

Tamás Kardon M.D., Ph.D. Katalin Erdélyi Ph.D.

Budapest 2021

Table of Contents
List of Abbreviations
1. Introduction
1.1 Nox/Duox family10
1.2 Peroxidase enzymes and their functional cooperation with NADPH oxidases
1.3 PXDN
1.3.1 Human PXDN, structural elements of the protein16
1.3.2 The enzymatic activity of PXDN18
1.3.3 Proprotein convertase processing of PXDN
1.3.4 The biological function of PXDN21
1.3.5 PXDN role in diseases21
1.4 PXDNL
1.4.1 PXDNL roles in diseases24
1.5 The structure of basement membranes24
2. Objectives
3. Results
3.1 Establishment of a PXDN knockout PFHR-9 cell line (KO PFHR-9) with the
CRISPR-Cas9 technique27
3.2 Development of a mouse model with CRISPR-Cas9 technique, which expresses
an N-terminally hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged PXDN (HA-PXDN)28
3.3 Identification of the proprotein convertase which processes PXDN
3.4 Studying the crosslinking activity, proprotein convertase processing, and localization of various double-tagged PXDN constructs
3.5 Investigating the role of peroxidase activity in the proteolytic processing of PXDN and PXDNL
4. Discussion

5. Conclusions	48
6. Summary	49
7. References	50
8. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	61
9. Acknowledgements	63

List of Abbreviations

³²P: radioactive isotope of phosphorus

7S: N-terminal domain of collagen IV

A431: human epidermoid carcinoma cell line

AH₂: one-electron donor

AH: free radical

AngII: angiotensin II

Arg: Arginine

ASD: anterior segment dysgenesis

Asp: Aspartic acid

BMPs: Bone Morphogenetic Proteins

Br⁻: bromide ion

C57BL/6: a common inbred strain of laboratory mouse

C736S, C1315S: a peroxidasin mutant in which the cysteine 736 is exchanged to serine and cysteine 1315 is also exchanged to serine, this mutant is a monomeric form of peroxidasin

CCN: cysteine-rich protein 61, connective tissue growth factor proteins, nephroblastoma overexpressed gene

cDNA: complementary deoxyribonucleic acid

C. elegans: Caenorhabditis elegans

CGD: chronic granulomatous disease

Cl⁻: chloride ion

CMK: decanoyl-Arg-Val-Lys-Arg-chloromethylketone

COL4A1: collagen type IV alpha 1 chain-antibody

COVID-19: COrona VIrus Disease 2019

CRISPR-Cas9: Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats-CRISPR associated protein 9

C-terminal: carboxyl-terminal

Cys: cysteine

D: aspartic acid

DMSO: dimethyl sulfoxide

DNA: deoxyribonucleic acid

DPI: diphenyliodonium

Duox: Dual oxidase

DuoxA1: Dual oxidase maturation factor 1

DuoxA2: Dual oxidase maturation factor 2

E: glutamic acid

ECM: extracellular matrix

EF-hand: Ca²⁺ binding domain

EGF: Epidermal Growth Factor

EPO: eosinophil peroxidase

ER: endoplasmic reticulum

FAD: flavin adenine dinucleotide

FKBP1B: peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase FKBP1B

FLAG: common protein tag, an octapeptide with DYKDDDDK amino acid sequence

Gln: Glutamine

Glu: Glutamic acid

GTP: guanosine triphosphate

H₂O₂: hydrogen peroxide

HA: epitope tag derived from the hemagglutinin protein

HaCaT: immortalized human epidermal keratinocyte cell line

HA-PXDN: hemagglutinin tag labeled peroxidasin

hiPSC-CMs: induced pluripotent stem cell cardiomyocytes

His: Histidine

HOBr: hypobromous acid

HOCl: hypochlorous acid

HOI: hypoiodous acid

HOSCN: hypothiocyanous acid

HOX: hypohalous acid

Hyl: Hydroxylysine

I⁻: iodide ion

IgC2: Immunoglobulin C2 domain

I_{Na}: inward sodium current

iPS: induced pluripotent stem cell

Ito: transient outward potassium current

Kc cell: drosophila cell line

KCND3-WT: wild type Potassium Voltage-Gated Channel Subfamily D Member 3

kD: kilodalton

KDEL: lysine-aspartic acid-glutamic acid-leucine aminoacid sequence containing peroxidasin mutant, this mutant is unable to be secreted because of the presence of KDEL at the C-terminal

KO PFHR-9: peroxidasin knockout mouse embryonal carcinoma cell line

LPO: lactoperoxidase

LRRs: leucine-rich repeats
Lys: lysine
MEF: mouse embryonic fibroblast
Met: Methionine
MG50: Melanoma Gene 50
MPO: myeloperoxidase
mRNA: messenger ribonucleic acid
MW: molecular weight
NADPH: reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NC1: non-collagenous C-terminal domain
NH ₂ : amine group
NIS: sodium/iodide symporter
Nox: NADPH oxidase
NOXA1: NADPH Oxidase Activator 1
NOXO1: NADPH Oxidase Organizer 1
N-terminal: amino-terminal
OSCN ⁻ : hypothiocyanate ion
p22 ^{phox} : component of phagocyte oxidase which molecular weight is 22 kD
p40 ^{phox} : component of phagocyte oxidase which molecular weight is 40 kD
p47 ^{phox} : component of phagocyte oxidase which molecular weight is 47 kD
p53: tumor suppressor protein
p67 ^{phox} : component of phagocyte oxidase which molecular weight is 67 kD

PCR: polymerase chain reaction

PFHR-9: mouse embryonal carcinoma cell line

phox: phagocyte oxidase

PXDN: peroxidasin

PXDNL: peroxidasin-like

PXDNL-WT: wild type peroxidasin-like protein

pxn-2: gene symbol for peroxidasin homolog pxn-2

Q: glutamine

Q823W, D826E: a peroxidasin mutant in which the glutamine 823 is exchanged to tryptophan and aspartic acid 826 is exchanged to glutamic acid, this mutant doesn't have peroxidase activity

Rac: small GTPase

RGR/QKK1333-1335: a peroxidasin mutant in which arginine 1333 is exchanged to glutamine, glycine 1334 is exchanged to lysine, and arginine 1335 is exchanged to lysine as well

RGRR: Arginine-Glycine-Arginine-Arginine sequence motif

RK/AA 1354-1355: a peroxidasin mutant in which the arginine 1354 and lysine 1355 are both exchanged for alanine

ROS: reactive oxygen species

RR/AA 1335-1336: a peroxidasin mutant in which the arginine 1335 and arginine 1336 are both exchanged for alanine

S1/S2 site: cleavage site between the two subunits of the spike protein

SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2

SCN⁻: thiocyanate ion

SCN5A-WT: wild type Sodium Voltage-Gated Channel Alpha Subunit 5

SCN9A: Sodium Voltage-Gated Channel Alpha Subunit 9

siRNA: small interfering ribonucleic acid

SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism

S protein: Spike protein

TGF-β: Transforming Growth Factor beta

TO-PRO-3: Thiazole Red, fluorescent dye for nuclear counterstaining

TPO: thyroid peroxidase

Trp: Tryptophan

Tyr: Tyrosine

X⁻: halide, pseudohalide

V5: common protein tag, composed of the following amino acid sequence: GKPIPNPLLGLDST

VPO1: vascular peroxidase 1

vWFC: Von Willebrand factor type C domain

W: tryptophan

WT PFHR-9: wild type mouse embryonal carcinoma cell line

1. Introduction

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced continuously in living organisms. Usually, they are considered as harmful chemical agents because of their high reactivity. ROS is either a free radical or a molecule that can generate a free radical. Free radical's high reactivity is due to their unpaired electron in their outer shell. Examples are superoxide, hydroxyl, hydroperoxyl, peroxyl, and alkoxyl radicals, which are often short-lived and generally they can not diffuse far from the site of synthesis. ROS that don't have an unpaired electron are hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), and organic peroxides. Usually, they are less reactive, have a longer lifespan, and can more likely leave the cell. ROS can be produced spontaneously or enzymatically in a regulated manner. It's important to note that nowadays, as we get to know more about the biology of ROS, we have to reconsider the original "ROS is bad" way of thinking. It's still true, of course, that uncontrolled ROS production can cause oxidative damage of DNA, proteins, and lipids what is harmful to the organism. Still, ROS have several critical physiological functions in the body, for example, in host defense, hormone synthesis, cell signaling, extracellular matrix (ECM) modification, or even in balance sensation. One of the primary sources of ROS in the cell is the mitochondrion. During the electron transfer, some of the electrons can leak out to reduce oxygen to superoxide. Important regulated superoxide and H₂O₂ sources are the NADPH oxidases (Nox/Duox), the homologs of which we can find in several different tissues. The Nox/Duox family often cooperates with heme peroxidases to further modify target molecules with H_2O_2 . Other ROS generating enzymes in the cell are the cytochrome P450 family, xanthine oxidoreductase, superoxide dismutase, monoamine oxidase, and a major H_2O_2 source is the beta-oxidation of fatty acids in the peroxisome. To limit and prevent the harmful effects of ROS, there are antioxidant mechanisms as well. They can be enzyme-catalyzed ROS elimination ways. For example, superoxide dismutase converts superoxide to less reactive H_2O_2 , catalase breaks down H_2O_2 , glutathione peroxidase also eliminates H₂O₂, glutaredoxin, and thioredoxin protect thiolcontaining proteins, peroxiredoxin reduces peroxides, and glutathione-S-transferase decreases lipid peroxidation. Some non-enzymatic antioxidant mechanisms are executed via molecules like glutathione, N-acetyl cysteine, vitamin C, and vitamin E (1, 2). As I mentioned before, ROS has several beneficial effects in living organisms, and some of these functions are executed through heme-peroxidases. In this Ph.D thesis, our work mainly focuses on two of the less known members of the peroxidase-cyclooxygenase superfamily: peroxidasin (PXDN) and peroxidasin-like (PXDNL) proteins.

1.1 Nox/Duox family

The Nox/Duox family members are the primary source of regulated ROS production in several organisms. The enzyme family has seven members in humans: Nox1,2,3,4,5 and Duox 1,2. Surprisingly mice and rats don't have the Nox5 isoform. Various cells and tissues express NADPH oxidases (3). It's part of the homeostasis to maintain the appropriate level of ROS, but we also know that a high level of these compounds can easily cause oxidative damages to molecules. Still, we also learned that inappropriately low levels of them could lead to severe immune deficiency like chronic granulomatous disease (CGD, phagocytic superoxide production by Nox2 complex is impaired)(4), or to hormone synthesis deficiency like congenital hypothyroidism caused by impaired function of Duox2 (5). All the family members have transmembrane domains and transport electrons across biological membranes (Figure 1.). The electron donor is an NADPH molecule, and it reduces oxygen to superoxide. Nox/Duox enzymes have several conserved structures in common: an NADPH binding site at the C-terminal part of the protein, a FAD-binding region, six conserved transmembrane domains, and four conserved heme-binding histidines (3). Nox1, Nox2, Nox3 complexes are composed of the Nox subunit and $p22^{phox}$, and they have associated cytosolic partners. Nox5, Duox1, Duox2 don't need cytosolic factors, but they have EF-hands that sense intracellular Ca^{2+} . Duox1 and Duox2 have an additional transmembrane domain, and an extracellular peroxidase-like domain, and these enzymes mainly release H₂O₂ instead of superoxide. Duox enzyme's activation requires DuoxA1 and DuoxA2. Nox4 is associated with $p22^{phox}$ and can further reduce superoxide to H_2O_2 (6, 7). In recent years our knowledge of the Nox/Duox family increased a lot thanks to the development of knockout animal models (8).



Figure 1. Domain structure of Nox/Duox family. Nox1,2,3,4 have six transmembrane domains, Nox5 has additional Ca²⁺ binding EF-hands, Duox1 and 2 have EF-hands and an extracellular peroxidase-like domain as well (9).

Nox1 was identified as the first homolog of Nox2 (10). It has a high expression level in the epithelial cells of the colon. To produce superoxide, it requires two other proteins, NOXO1 and NOXA1. In the first Nox1-deficient mice, it wasn't identified any obvious phenotype. Still, probably Nox1 has a role in host defense based on its homology with Nox2 and because many bacteria inhabit the colon that generally don't invade through the epithelial layer (8). Nox1 was also described in vascular smooth muscle cells. The data on the possible blood pressure modulating role of the enzyme is controversial (11, 12). Nox1 mRNA was also detected in dorsal root ganglion neurons and microglia (8).

Nox2 (gp91phox) was the first discovered Nox enzyme. It was shown to be expressed mainly in neutrophilic granulocytes and macrophages that is why it is often called the phagocyte NADPH oxidase. Nox2 is constitutively coupled with $p22^{phox}$, and for its activation, the Nox2 complex requires the "organizer subunit" $p47^{phox}$, the "activator subunit" $p67^{phox}$, a small subunit $p40^{phox}$, and the GTPase Rac protein. Nox2 expression is mainly phagocyte-specific, but it was found also in neurons, skeletal muscle cells, cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, hematopoietic stem cells, and hepatocytes. In phagocytes, the enzyme localizes to both plasma and intracellular membranes. Upon the stimulation of resting phagocytes, Nox2 translocates to the surface and starts to generate ROS-superoxide. This phenomenon will cause a sudden increase in cellular oxygen consumption known as oxidative burst. The superoxide will be further converted into H₂O₂ then, finally, hypochlorous acid (HOCl) is produced, a potent antimicrobial molecule (3). In addition, Nox2 was described in B lymphocytes, where it is necessary for bacterial killing during the phagocytic activity of B cells (13).

Nox3 is only expressed in the inner ear. It is necessary for the otoconia crystals formation in the vestibular system. Loss of function mutation in the gene causes balance and spatial orientation problems in mice (8).

Nox4 was first shown to be expressed in kidney epithelial cells (14). Since its discovery, it was identified in vascular smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, cardiomyocytes, fibroblasts, osteoclasts, neurons, microglia, skeletal muscle, and adipocytes (3). Nox4 is mainly present in the proximal tubules of mice kidneys. They investigated the kidney phenotype in the absence of the enzyme and didn't find apparent alteration, not even in different kidney disease models (8). Zhang *et al.* studied the function of Nox4 in the adaptation of the heart to pressure overload with the help of various genetic mice models. They found that Nox4 has a protective effect in chronic load-induced stress, probably by enhancing angiogenesis (15). This finding is remarkable because it was the first one that stated the absence of Nox4 might have severe pathophysiological consequences. Endothelial cells express a high level of Nox4, where it probably plays a protective role for example against atherosclerosis (8). In the lungs, they also found Nox4 as a protective enzyme in the bleomycin-induced fibrosis model. In an ischemic stroke model, it was found that the lack of the enzyme was advantageous, probably because of the reduced

oxidative stress. The bone density is higher in Nox4 knockout animals, likely caused by impaired osteoclast function (8).

The strongest Nox5 expression was identified in the testis, spleen, and fetal tissues. In the testis mostly it is present in the spermatocytes. Recently it was also detected in blood vessels. Unfortunately, the enzyme gene is not present in the mouse genome, making it harder to investigate its function. In rabbits, its expression was detected in the lymph node, testis, and aorta. With the generation of a Nox5 knockout rabbit, Petheő and Kerekes *et al.* were able to study the function of the protein, and they found that after feeding the rabbits with atherogenic chow diet, in the Nox5 knockout rabbit, the aortic plaque formation was increased, suggesting a protective role for the enzyme in atherosclerosis (16).

Duox1 and Duox2 were first cloned from the human and porcine thyroid glands. These enzymes require the Duox activator proteins DuoxA1 and DuoxA2. The complete loss of function of Duox2 causes congenital hypothyroidism (8). Duox enzymes are also present on the mucosal surfaces of the gastrointestinal and respiratory tract. Geiszt *et al.* introduced a model where Duox is the source of H₂O₂, which oxidizes thiocyanate (SCN⁻) into hypothiocyanate (OSCN⁻) in cooperation with lactoperoxidase to form an effective antimicrobial compound (17). In Drosophila, Zebrafish, and *Caenorhabditis elegans* (C. elegans), an increasing amount of data suggest that Duox has an essential role in controlling the gastrointestinal tract microorganism environment (8). Duox 1 expression was detected in mouse urothelium, where in vivo cystometry experiments showed that Duox1 produced H₂O₂ decreases the urinary bladder contractions (18). Duox1 was also shown to play a role in intracellular redox signaling. Sirokmány *et al.* showed that in A431 and HaCaT cells, there is a Ca²⁺ induced Duox1 dependent H₂O₂ production upon EGF stimulus, and this H₂O₂ can cause the oxidation of thioredoxin-1 and cytosolic peroxiredoxins (19).

1.2 Peroxidase enzymes and their functional cooperation with NADPH oxidases

Peroxidase enzymes oxidize a great variety of substrates with the help of H_2O_2 . There are four heme peroxidase superfamilies, the members of which contain heme as a prosthetic group in the catalytic site. They are expressed in different kingdoms of life. One of the superfamilies is the peroxidase-cyclooxygenase superfamily, the unique feature of which is the post-translationally modified heme group. This heme group is covalently bound to the protein, usually with two covalent linkages or, exceptionally, in the case of myeloperoxidase (MPO), with three covalent bonds. These enzymes can enter the peroxidase or the halogenation cycle during their catalytic activity. First, the native ferric peroxidase heme reduces the H₂O₂ to H₂O via the formation of Compound I (oxoiron(IV) with porphyrin π -cation radical). Compound I can return to the resting enzyme form through reaction with two-electron donors (halides or pseudohalides, X⁻) in the halogenation cycle. Meanwhile, the electron donors become oxidized into hypohalous acids (HOX, Reaction 1). Compound I can also return to the native form via a two-step mechanism reacting with one-electron donors (AH₂) and oxidizing them into free radicals (AH ·, Reaction 2) via the formation of Compound II (20-23). I will further go into detail about the mammalian peroxidases: MPO, eosinophil peroxidase (EPO), lactoperoxidase (LPO), thyroid peroxidase (TPO), PXDN, and PXDNL. I will also describe the examples of cooperation between NADPH oxidases and peroxidase enzymes.

Reaction 1: $H_2O_2 + H^+ + X^- \longrightarrow H_2O + HOX$

Reaction 2: $H_2O_2 + 2AH_2 \rightarrow 2H_2O + 2AH \cdot$

MPO mainly produces HOCl – a highly reactive oxidant- which can effectively damage invading pathogens at its production site. The azurophilic granules of neutrophilic granulocytes store the MPO. During neutrophilic granulocyte stimulation, granules are either fusing with the phagosome or release their content to the extracellular space. At the same time, the Nox2 complex is assembled to its active form and produces superoxide, which will be converted to H_2O_2 by superoxide dismutase. Thus MPO will go through the halogenation cycle to oxidize chloride (Cl⁻) with H_2O_2 into HOCl. Impairment of this system can cause immune deficiency disorder. In Nox2 complex deficiency, the disease CGD will develop with frequent bacterial and fungal infections. In MPO deficiency, usually, the patients are more susceptible to fungal infections (22). Besides its beneficial role in host defense, MPO is also implicated in various diseases like Alzheimer's, rheumatoid arthritis, kidney, and cardiovascular disorders (21, 24).

EPO is present in the granules of eosinophil granulocytes. Similar to MPO, it can oxidize halides with H_2O_2 (Nox2 complex is the source of superoxide, which will be converted to H_2O_2) (22), but mainly it converts bromide (Br⁻) and SCN⁻ into hypobromous acid

(HOBr) or hypothiocyanous acid (HOSCN), respectively. These compounds hurt pathogens, especially EPO-mediated eosinophil attack is vital in the fight against parasites. EPO is also linked with the pathogenesis of different diseases like asthma (24).

LPO was detected in various body fluids (such as milk, saliva, tears, and airway fluids) secreted by exocrine glands. In the Duox/LPO system, Duox is the source of H_2O_2 , and LPO catalyzes the formation of HOSCN. Duox2 is expressed in major salivary ducts and rectal epithelial cells, Duox1 is described in the epithelial cells of the airway (17, 24). LPO can oxidize both I⁻ and SCN⁻. These ions are transported at the site of action by sodium/iodide transporter (NIS). The main product is the HOSCN which has potent antimicrobial effects on the mucosal surfaces (22).

TPO is expressed by the thyroid gland's follicular cells. Thanks to the high local concentration of iodide (I⁻), it can produce hypoiodous acid (HOI), which is necessary for synthesizing triiodothyronine and thyroxine (25). In the Duox2/TPO system, Duox2 produces H_2O_2 , which TPO uses. This peroxidase is in the apical membrane of the thyrocytes. Its active site faces the colloid and catalyzes the thyroglobulin iodination. Loss of function mutations of Duox2, DuoxA2, or TPO causes hypothyreosis, underlining the essential role of these proteins in thyroid hormone synthesis (22).

Another example of the cooperation between NADPH oxidases and peroxidases is the urchin Duox1/ovoperoxidase system, Duox1 is the H_2O_2 source, and ovoperoxidase catalyzes the crosslinking of protein tyrosyl residues in the fertilization envelope. The fertilization envelope is a hardened membrane that can prevent polyspermy (22).

1.3 PXDN

PXDN is a member of the peroxidase-cyclooxygenase superfamily. It was first discovered in *Drosophila melanogaster* (26). Nelson *et al.* purified the protein from the conditioned media of Kc cells, and through gel electrophoresis experiments, they found that PXDN molecular weight is 170kD. After determining the amino acid sequence of an N-terminal peptide fragment of PXDN, the authors generated ³²P-labeled oligonucleotides with all the possible coding sequences corresponding to this peptide sequence and used these probes to screen cDNA libraries. By identifying several overlapping cDNA clones, they managed to clone the entire open reading frame of the Drosophila peroxidasin, which consists of 1535 amino acids. They also proved that it forms homotrimers through

disulfide bridges. The purified protein had peroxidase activity in many different assays, and the mRNA of PXDN was detected mainly in the hemocytes of Drosophila during embryogenesis. PXDN has a unique domain structure, beyond its peroxidase domain, it also carries several modules typical for ECM proteins. The peroxidase domain has high homology with the other members of the enzyme superfamily (23, 26). At the N-terminal of PXDN, there is a 23 amino acids long secretory signal peptide, followed by six leucine-rich repeats (LRRs), then four immunoglobulin (Ig) domains. After this, there is the peroxidase domain, then an amphipathic alpha-helix, and at the C-terminal, there is a C-type von Willebrand factor domain (vWFC) (Figure 2.).



Figure 2. Domain structure of PXDN. The protein has domains characteristic for ECM proteins (Leucine-rich repeats, C2 type Ig-like domain, C-type vWf domain) and a peroxidase homology domain. The figure is modified from Figure 1.A of (27).

1.3.1 Human PXDN, structural elements of the protein

The human PXDN gene was first cloned as a p53 responsive gene from a colon cancer cell line (28). The gene was also expressed in melanoma samples and was called melanoma-associated gene 50 (MG50) (29). Another group named the mammalian protein vascular peroxidase 1 (VPO1) because the expression was high in vascular tissues (30). This name of PXDN is not in use anymore since it has a more widespread expression than it was thought initially. The mammalian PXDN's structure is very similar to the one in Drosophila (Figure 2.). The human protein is 1479 amino acids long. Its calculated molecular weight is 165kD. PXDN has N-terminally an ECM signal peptide followed by LRRs. These repeats are not a unique feature of PXDN, they appear in several different proteins, and primarily it is involved in the mediation of protein-protein interactions. This ability can facilitate ECM assembly, cell adhesion, signal transduction, neuronal development, platelet aggregation, and immune response (31). This module has a

solenoid structure. Each repeat corresponds to a turn that usually has a length of 20-30 amino acids. The conserved leucines and other primarily hydrophobic amino acids form the inner tightly packed core of the solenoid and are responsible for the stability of the domain. N- and C-terminally cysteine-rich flanking regions protect the core from opening in PXDN (32). After the LRRs, the following domains are the immunoglobulin domains in PXDN. There are different categories like C-domains, C-like domains, V-domains, and V-like domains (33). There are four C-like Ig domains in PXDN. The biological function of the Ig-fold motif is typically cell adhesion and pattern recognition (34). The only known enzymatic motif in PXDN is the heme-containing peroxidase domain (this domain will be described in detail in the next part). At the C-terminal of PXDN, there is a vWFC domain. A consensus sequence of ten cysteines defines this motif, and usually, it is 60-80 amino acids long (35). The name of this domain comes from a multimeric blood glycoprotein, the von Willebrand factor, which facilitates platelet adhesion and stabilizes clotting factor VIII in the blood (36). The vWFC domain is present in a significant number of ECM proteins, including procollagen, glycosylated mucins, thrombospondin, neuralins, and CCN (cysteine-rich protein 61, connective tissue growth factor proteins, nephroblastoma overexpressed gene). The number of domains in different proteins can be different. Even amongst peroxidasins from different species can be variable. In the human PXDN, there is one domain at the C-terminal of the protein. One of the most common functions of the vWFC module is the binding and regulation of transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) and bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) (37). Another role of the motif is the mediation of protein oligomerization (36). The oligomerization was described first in Drosophila PXDN (26). Later on, our research group and an other research team independently showed that human PXDN also exists in the form of homotrimers linked by disulfide bridges (38, 39). The trimers are formed both in heterogeneously and endogenously PXDN-expressing cells. Our group proved with sitedirected mutagenesis experiments that Cys736 and Cys1315 are required for the disulfide bond formation in the process of trimerization (39). The other group concluded that a PXDN truncated at amino acid position 1288 couldn't form trimers (38). PXDN's only known physiological role is the crosslinking of collagen IV (this function will be explained in detail later) molecules (40). This crosslinking activity seems to be decreased in heterogeneous expression systems where cells are expressing a mutant form of PXDN, which is incapable of trimerization because of the absence of these critical cysteines (39). PXDN is highly glycosylated, seven glycosylation sites were identified in the peroxidase domain, and additional three sites were described: one in the second Ig domain, one between the peroxidase motif, and the vWFC domain, and the last one in the vWFC domain (38).

1.3.2 The enzymatic activity of PXDN

The peroxidase domain of PXDN is homologous to other animal peroxidases (MPO, EPO, LPO, TPO), and it is closest in similarity to LPO (23). The catalytic motif has a covalently bound heme group (38). Many critical residues play a role either in the cleavage of H_2O_2 (in the distal heme cavity His827 and Arg977) or in the binding of halides (Gln823) (23). As an active peroxidase enzyme, it can catalyze reactions following halogenation and the peroxidase cycles (41, 42). As was mentioned before, PXDN is responsible for the crosslinking of collagen IV molecules which is the major component of basement membranes. The crosslink is made between Met93 and hydroxylysine (Hyl)/lysine (Lys) 211 of two neighboring NC1 domains of collagen IV by forming a sulfilimine covalent bond (43) (Figure 3.). The crosslinking activity is a specialty of PXDN, although EPO can also form HOBr, but its crosslinking activity is not comparable with PXDN (44). The sulfilimine chemical bond is unique in living organisms, it has been shown only between the collagen IV molecules. The crosslinking occurs through the halogenation cycle and another unique feature is that it uses HOBr. Till now this is the only known physiological role of the trace element bromine in the body. H₂O₂ oxidizes the resting enzyme during the catalysis to form compound I, then compound I can directly react with two-electron donors like Br or pseudohalide (SCN) to make HOBr or HOSCN. The substrate specificity and pre-steady-state kinetics of PXDN were investigated with an enzymatically active truncated variant (composed of the four Ig and the peroxidase domains). This construct proved that compound I can only react with bromide, iodide, and thiocyanate but not with chloride (41). Amongst these possible substrates, for the crosslinking reaction, PXDN prefers to use Br- as it was detected in vitro in PFHR-9 cell culture (40). This observation was further confirmed in vivo in Drosophila (45). First, HOBr is formed during the crosslinking reaction, which reacts with Met93 to make a bromosulfonium cation. This intermediate can react with water to form methionine sulfoxide (a "dead end" in collagen IV crosslinking) or can interact with the ϵ -NH₂ of Hyl/Lys 211 to make the sulfilimine bond (this pathway has a low energetic barrier) (Figure 4.).



Figure 3. Schematic figure of sulfilimine bond formation. The crosslink is made between the Met and Lys residues of two adjacent NC1 domains of collagen IV molecules. The reaction is catalyzed by PXDN with the help of Br^- and H_2O_2 . The figure is modified from Figure 1.B of (27).

Fluoride is inert to this reaction. I⁻ and SCN⁻ can inhibit the sulfilimine bond formation *in vitro*. A possible explanation for the inhibition is that these ions can compete with Br⁻, on the other hand, their corresponding hypohalous acids do not form halosulfonium ions in a significant amount (40, 45, 46). It is essential to highlight that in the human plasma Br⁻ concentration is 10-100 μ M, which is enough for the crosslinking reaction based on the observations with *Drosophila*. The *in vivo* plasma I⁻ level is 0.2-0.4 μ M. It can not interfere with the crosslinking, but SCN⁻ plasma level is higher than Br⁻ concentration. Especially in smokers, it can be even 70-300 μ M (47). This elevated SCN⁻ level may interfere with the sulfilimine bond formation in basement membranes. Those domains of the enzyme that are important in forming intermolecular connections can help localize the formation of HOBr close to the NC1 domains preventing the possible oxidative damage on the surrounding other molecules (48, 49). PXDN can bind to laminin (another important component of basement membranes), positioning PXDN next to the collagen IV molecules (50).



Figure 4. Molecular mechanism of sulfilimine bond formation. The covalent bond is formed via the bromosulfonium cation intermediate formation between the Met93 of the NC1 domain and the Hyl/Lys 211 of an adjacent NC1 domain. The figure is modified from Figure 1.C of (27).

The halogenation cycle is undoubtedly crucial in crosslink formation. Still, PXDN can also go through the peroxidase cycle by reacting with H_2O_2 and two one-electron donors. This alternative pathway can decrease the capacity of PXDN to participate in the halogenation cycle. *In vitro* cell culture experiments with PFHR-9 cells showed decreased crosslinking activity in the presence of urate (48). The source of H_2O_2 for PXDN is still an unresolved question. Our laboratory studied the role of Nox/Duox family members as a potential source of H_2O_2 . That work will be discussed later in the results and discussion chapter, as the current Ph.D thesis is partly based on that publication. Another still open question is whether PXDN catalyzes the bromination of proteins *in vivo*. Some data support this idea. For example, kidney Bowman's capsule-, glomerular- and tubule basement membranes are shown to accumulate bromine in a PXDN dependent manner both in mice and humans (51). ECM extracted from PFHR-9 cells also contains 3-Br-Tyr residues produced by PXDN (52).

1.3.3 Proprotein convertase processing of PXDN

Colon *et al.* investigated the proteolytic processing of PXDN. With the help of a proprotein convertase site prediction algorithm, they found a potential cleavage site in the PXDN sequence. This motif is the RGRR close to the C-terminal of the protein at Arg-1336. Cell culture experiments could prove that the cleavage can indeed happen at this site and that the cleaved protein has an increased crosslinking activity compared to the

uncleaved form (53). This Ph.D work analyzed further the details of the proprotein convertase processing.

1.3.4 The biological function of PXDN

The gene of PXDN in *C.elegans* (pxn-2) was studied through pxn-2 mutant animals. Seven mutations were identified in the peroxidasin gene that turned to be lethal. The phenotype of the mutant animals showed epidermal elongation defect and disturbed epidermal-muscle interactions, which led to larval arrest and muscle detachment. The same study also found that PXN-2 might hurt axon regrowth after injury (54). Peroxidasin was first discovered in *Drosophila* (26). In a later study, the effect of peroxidasin mutation was examined on the phenotype. The homozygous genotype for the mutant allele was lethal at the larval stage, and it had a severely damaged basement membrane in the midgut visceral muscles (40). In zebrafish (*Danio rerio*), inhibition of PXDN translation results in decreased eye size, trunk patterning effects, and cardiac edema (55). PXDN mutation in mice causes an ocular developmental defect called anterior segment dysgenesis (ASD). Another phenotype of the PXDN knockout mouse is a pigmentation problem: black mice (C57BL/6) have white spots on their belly (56, 57). PXDN was also studied in differentiating mammalian fibroblasts, where it was proved that it participates in the building of ECM (58).

1.3.5 PXDN role in diseases

PXDN's function is highly investigated in the kidney. Bhave *et al.* reported - based on experiments with wild type (WT) and PXDN knockout mice - that the presence of sulfilimine crosslinks contributes to renal tubular basement membrane stiffness (59). This finding can help understand more kidney diseases that involve the basement membrane, like Alport syndrome. A murine unilateral ureteral obstruction model found that pharmacological inhibition of PXDN or its genetic absence can decrease renal fibrosis (60). In the serum of patients with Goodpasture syndrome, McCall *et al.* could identify anti-PXDN autoantibodies. These immunoglobulins displayed an inhibitory effect *in vitro* on PXDN-mediated HOBr production. The same work could also detect anti-PXDN antibodies in anti-MPO vasculitis, associated with a more active clinical disease (61). PXDN was also identified as a target of autoantibodies in lupus nephritis (62). As was mentioned before, the most apparent phenotype related to the dysfunction of PXDN is ASD. ASD is a group of developmental eye disorders involving the anterior chamber

structures. It can cause glaucoma, corneal opacity, or microcornea with cataracts and aniridia. Homozygous mutations in PXDN cause ASD in humans as well (63). Several other mutations in PXDN causing developmental eve problems in patients have been described recently (64, 65). Later on, experiments on mice proved that PXDN is essential for eye development (56, 57). A publication found upregulated PXDN levels in mice during atherogenesis and suggested that PXDN may contribute to arterial stiffening during atherosclerosis (66). PXDN was linked to distinctly different cancer pathology as well. It was reported as a glioma endothelial marker gene that is upregulated in primary and metastatic brain tumors (67). It was also found that PXDN might have an essential role in promoting melanoma cells invasion (68, 69), which can be related to the observed white spots on the belly of PXDN knockout mice, suggesting a role for PXDN in melanocyte migration or differentiation. In ovarian cancer, it was also found that PXDN might have a promoter role in the proliferation and migration of cancer cells (70). PXDN was suggested in prostate cancer as a potential therapeutic target because of its tumorpromoting effect (71). PXDN was also studied in oral squamous cell carcinoma as a tumor promoter gene (72, 73).

1.4 PXDNL

PXDNL is the less known member of the mammalian peroxidase family. The gene is absent from mice and rats, making its research more complicated, but it is expressed in humans and many other mammalian species. Our group described and characterized the human PXDNL first (74). We found that it has 1463 amino acids (calculated molecular weight is 164 kD), and it is highly homologous to PXDN (58% identity and 72% similarity). The domain composition of PXDNL is practically the same as of PXDN. Still, notably in its peroxidase domain, highly conserved amino acids are replaced with other residues (808Q/W, 811D/E), which can explain the lack of measurable peroxidase activity. **(Figure 5.)**.



Figure 5. Domain structure of PXDNL. The protein has domains characteristic for ECM proteins (Leucine-rich repeats, C2 type Ig-like domain, C-type vWf domain) and an inactive peroxidase homology domain. Highly conserved amino acids (indicated with red color) are different in the peroxidase domain of PXDNL compared to other mammalian peroxidases. The figure is modified from Figure 1.A of (27).

In the same publication, we show that PXDNL mRNA is only detectable in the heart from the examined human tissues. In a heterologous expression system, it doesn't have peroxidase activity, localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), and can be detected extracellularly as well. After the co-expression of PXDNL with PXDN, we could show that they form a complex, and in the presence of PXDNL, PXDN has less peroxidase activity. In human cardiomyocytes of iPS origin, it was located at the plasma membrane beside the intracellular localization. Upon AngII stimulus of iPS cell-derived cardiomyocytes, PXDNL mRNA level was elevated. The protein was present on the lateral surface of the cells and at the intercalated discs on human heart sections. With *in situ* hybridization and quantitative PCR, we detected an increased level of PXDNL in the diseased heart sample compared to the healthy one (74). Besides our observation in the PXDN-PXDNL co-expression system, another group also suggested an antagonistic role between the two proteins in *C.elegans* (54).

1.4.1 PXDNL roles in diseases

There are many findings related to PXDNL and different pathologies that can be partly understood based on the data we know about this protein.

One of the risk factors of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular diseases is hyperuricemia (75, 76). A study investigated the genetic background of the correlation between obesity and elevated uric acid level. They performed a genome-wide association study and found a weak association between PXDNL SNPs and plasma uric acid levels (77). Pongor et al. identified PXDNL as a top tumor suppressor gene in breast cancer (78). Another group further investigated this gene in breast cancer and reported that PXDNL expression is a potential and independent prognostic biomarker in the manner that the high expression of the gene is related to the poor overall survival of the tumor (79). PXDNL was also found as an outstanding susceptibility gene for schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depressive disorder (80). There is a publication that reported a patient who has a homozygous splicing mutation in the pxdnl gene. This patient has an intellectual disability, partial agenesis of the corpus callosum, hypoplastic cerebellum, and brainstem (81). Loss-of-function variation in PXDNL was associated with aberrant left-right patterning (laterality defects) in the developing heart of the human embryo (82). This phenotype seems to be logical based on the high PXDNL expression in the human heart. Another recent finding which further strengthens the importance of PXDNL in the human heart is a report about a patient who has a heterozygous mutation in PXDNL (and in two other genes: FKBP1B and SCN9A) and exhibited palpitations and syncope. They prepared induced pluripotent stem cell cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs) from the patient's fibroblasts and examined them with electrophysiological methods that revealed irregular spontaneous activity. After cloning the construct which codes the mutated PXDNL, they cotransfected it with SCN5A-WT or with KCND3-WT. The first cotransfection resulted in a lower I_{Na} (inward sodium current) density compared to PXDNL-WT cotransfection. The second one resulted in higher I_{to} (transient outward potassium current) density compared to PXDNL-WT (83).

1.5 The structure of basement membranes

The basement membrane is a unique extracellular matrix protein complex usually between an epithelium or endothelium monolayer and the underlying connective tissue (84) (Figure 6.). It is noteworthy that the basement membrane is also present around

skeletal-, cardiac-, and smooth muscle cells (85). Even neuromuscular synapses contain collagen IV (86), a significant component of basement membranes, and the connective tissue capsule surrounding fat cells is also rich in these molecules. There are four major components of the basement membranes: collagen IV, laminin, nidogen/entactin, and perlecan. Collagen IV and laminin are respectively self-assembled into superstructures. These networks are connected via bridges formed by nidogen/entactin proteins and perlecans. There are also many other protein components of the basement membranes, for example, fibulin, agrin, type XV collagen, type XVIII collagen, and osteonectin (84, 87). Various physiological roles are addressed to basement membranes, like orientating and organizing cells during tissue development, providing mechanical support to cells, outside-in signaling. It can work as a selective barrier during filtration (kidney), and it is also important in the guidance of cell differentiation, proliferation, and migration (84, 88). Collagen IV is a nonfibrillar collagen that gives around 50% of the basement membrane proteins. In mammals, six different genes encode the various alpha chains (alpha1-6). These isoforms are highly conserved among vertebrates (89). Each chain comprises an N-terminal 7S domain, a triple-helical collagenous domain, and a Cterminal noncollagenous globular NC1 domain. Three alpha chains (in specific combinations like $\alpha 1\alpha 1\alpha 2$, $\alpha 3\alpha 4\alpha 5$, and possibly $\alpha 1\alpha 1\alpha 5$, $\alpha 1\alpha 2\alpha 5$, $\alpha 5\alpha 5\alpha 6$) selfassemble into a protomer, then secreted from the cells. The protomers form a sheet-like network extracellularly: four protomers connect via disulfide bridges and lysine crosslinks through the 7S domains. Two protomers are also interconnected via sulfilimine bonds formed between adjacent NC1 domains (43). This unique covalent bond formation is catalyzed by PXDN (40).



Figure 6. Schematic representation of cells with the underlying basement membrane.

2. Objectives

PXDN is a multidomain protein with an active heme peroxidase domain. Its only known biological function is the catalysis of crosslink formation between collagen IV molecules in the basement membrane. PXDN goes through posttranslational proteolysis *in vitro* mediated by proprotein convertase enzymes. This will result in the cleavage of the C-terminal vWFC domain.

Our goal was to establish an *in vitro* model to study PXDN and the effect of certain features of PXDN (proprotein convertase processing, trimerization, localization) on the localization, processing, and crosslinking activity of the protein. We also wanted to know whether the proprotein convertase processing of PXDN can happen *in vivo* or not and to prove that the proprotein convertase that mediates the proteolysis is furin. We also wanted to explore whether the peroxidase activity is necessary for the processing and investigate the possible proprotein convertase mediated cleavage of PXDNL.

To achieve these goals, we established cell culture and animal model systems to answer our questions.

We made the following objectives:

1. Establishment of a PXDN knockout PFHR-9 cell line (KO PFHR-9) with the CRISPR-Cas9 technique.

2. Development of a mouse model with CRISPR-Cas9 technique, which expresses an N-terminally hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged PXDN (HA-PXDN).

3. Identification of the proprotein convertase which processes PXDN.

4. Studying the crosslinking activity, proprotein convertase processing, and localization of various double-tagged PXDN constructs.

5. Investigating the role of peroxidase activity in the proteolytic processing of PXDN and PXDNL.

3. Results

3.1 Establishment of a PXDN knockout PFHR-9 cell line (KO PFHR-9) with the CRISPR-Cas9 technique

We decided to use the mouse embryonic cancer cell line, PFHR-9, as a model system for our *in vitro* experiments. Based on previous publications, we knew that this cell produces a large amount of ECM rich in collagen IV and expresses PXDN (40). In PFHR-9 cell lysates, we could detect the crosslinked NC1 dimers and uncrosslinked NC1 monomers with collagenase digestion and western blot assay. Furthermore, through the detection of crosslinked dimers, we could monitor the activity of PXDN. To study different PXDN constructs with a heterogenous expression, we created a PXDN deficient PFHR-9 cell line. This result was my contribution as a coauthor to the article of Sirokmány *et al.* (90). This KO PFHR-9 cell line was made with the help of the CRISPR-Cas9 technique (91). We verified the pxdn gene modification with Surveyor mismatch analysis and sequencing. We showed the absence of PXDN protein (Figure 7. upper panel) with western blot experiments and the lack of NC1 dimers in the KO PFHR-9 compared to the WT PFHR-9 cells with collagenase digestion assay and western blot analysis (Figure 7. middle panel). All these experiments confirmed the successful modification of the cell line.



Figure 7. Characterization of PXDN KO PFHR-9 cells. On the upper blot, the double band of PXDN is visible in the WT PFHR-9 cell at the appropriate molecular weight, representing the unprocessed and the proprotein convertase cleaved form of the protein (the lowest panel is the loading control). The middle panel shows the absence of crosslinked NC1 dimer in the KO PFHR-9 sample detected with an Alpha1 collagen IV isoform-specific antibody. The blots are representative of three independent experiments.

3.2 Development of a mouse model with CRISPR-Cas9 technique, which expresses an N-terminally hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged PXDN (HA-PXDN)

To study PXDN's localization, function, and *in vivo* proprotein convertase processing in mice, we have devised a novel knockin animal model. The mouse expresses a hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged PXDN (HA-PXDN). We achieved this modification using the CRISPR-Cas9 technique, and the HA epitope tag-encoding nucleotide sequence was introduced at the N-terminus of the encoded PXDN right after the secretory signal. We predicted that if proprotein convertase processing of PXDN occurs in vivo in the HA-PXDN mice, we will detect two HA-specific bands around 170 kD. As we can see in Figure 8., we detected these bands in the kidney and lung of the HA-PXDN mice. This observation was confirmed with a PXDN-specific polyclonal antibody as well, in the same organs in WT and HA-PXDN mice (Figure 8.). The specificity of the polyclonal antibody was proved by the PXDN knockout mouse kidney and lung samples. The HAtag did not alter the function of PXDN, as we could not observe any phenotypic changes in mice which expressed the modified gene in a hetero- or homozygous manner. On the lowest blot of Figure 8. we can also see that the crosslinking activity of PXDN was unaffected by the HA-tag. These experiments allowed us to conclude that proprotein convertase processing of PXDN can happen in vivo. With the help of this newly developed animal model, we also attempted to examine the localization of PXDN in mouse organs. We chose for this purpose the developing mouse eye prepared from fetuses between day 12.5-14.5 of gestation. This seemed to be a good choice based on previous observations related to the importance of PXDN in mouse eye development (56, 57).



Figure 8. Development of a hemagglutinin epitope (HA)-tagged PXDN expressing mouse model. Western blot analysis of kidney and lung samples derived from WT, HA-PXDN knockin, and PXDN-KO mice. Most upper panels show the double bands of PXDN in the WT, and HA-PXDN animals detected with a PXDN-specific polyclonal antibody. This result is confirmed with an HA-tag-specific antibody as well. The upper band probably represents the unprocessed PXDN, the lower one, the proprotein convertase cleaved form of PXDN. Under the PXDN and HA blots, we can see the corresponding loading controls. At the lowest panel, we can see that the crosslinking activity of PXDN is normal in the HA-PXDN animal compared with the WT. Meanwhile, the crosslinked NC1 dimers are absent in the PXDN-KO organs. The NC1 dimers and monomers are detected with an Alpha1 collagen IV isoform-specific antibody. The blots are representative of three independent experiments.

Immunostaining of HA-PXDN revealed an intense PXDN signal in the embryonic eye of the HA-PXDN fetus. The staining was the most intense in the lens, where we could

observe a network-like pattern inside the lens and strong labeling at the borders of the lens (Figure 9.). There was no PXDN-specific staining in the WT embryo's eye (Figure 9. inserts).



Figure 9. Immunostaining of HA-PXDN in the developing mouse eye. (A) Phase contrast image of an embryo eye taken with 20x objective from an HA-PXDN fetus. The inserted photo in the right corner of the picture is taken from a WT eye. The dark signal around the eye represents the pigmented layer of the retina. Bar indicates 20 μ m. (B) Immunostaining of HA-PXDN with HA-specific antibody shows specific staining in the lens, around the cells of the lens, and at the border of the lens. The inserted photo in the right corner of the picture is taken from a WT eye. Here we can not see a specific signal. Bar indicates 20 μ m. (C) Immunostained HA-PXDN embryo eye taken with 40x objective, highlighting the PXDN signal localization in a basement membrane-like structure. Bar indicates 10 μ m.

3.3 Identification of the proprotein convertase which processes PXDN

Although we detected double bands of PXDN in WT PFHR-9 cells and the kidney and lung samples of WT and HA-PXDN mice, we could not say for sure that these bands represent the unprocessed and proteolytically processed forms of PXDN. To prove our point, we prepared a primary cell culture from HA-PXDN mice embryos (mouse embryonic fibroblast, MEF) between days 12.5-14.5 of gestation. In this cell culture model, we could study the effect of proprotein convertase inhibitor Decanoyl-Arg-Val-Lys-Arg-Chloromethylketone (CMK), which is used to block furin/proprotein convertases (92). We can see in **Figure 10.A** that CMK treatment of the HA-PXDN MEF decreased the lower PXDN-specific band's intensity, representing the proteolytically

processed form compared to the vehicle (DMSO) treated cells. Both PXDN-specific and HA-specific antibodies confirmed this finding. We also further studied the processing of PXDN in WT PFHR-9 cells. Treatment of the cells with CMK decreased the lower PXDN-specific band's intensity in the tumor cell line as well (Figure 10.B). CMK is an inhibitor of furin, but to make sure that the proprotein convertase which is responsible for the PXDN's cleavage is furin, we conducted experiments with furin-specific siRNA on the PFHR-9 cells. Treatment with the furin-specific siRNA could reduce the processing of PXDN (Figure 10.C). With the siRNA experiment, we confirmed that furin has a role in the proteolytic cleavage of PXDN.



Figure 10. Inhibition of furin activity with proprotein convertase inhibitor and furin-specific siRNA in cell culture. (A) HA-PXDN mouse embryonic fibroblasts (HA-PXDN MEF) were treated with CMK (furin/proprotein convertase inhibitor) or vehicle (DMSO). The CMK treatment significantly decreased the lower band's intensity which represents the cleaved form of PXDN. This decrease was confirmed with PXDN-specific and HA-specific antibodies as well. Under the PXDN and HA blots, we can see the corresponding loading controls. (B) CMK treatment of WT PFHR-9 cells decreased the proteolytic cleavage of PXDN. (C) Treatment of WT PFHR-9 cells with furin-specific siRNA significantly reduced the cleavage of PXDN compared to the control siRNA-

treated sample. This confirmed the role of furin in the proteolytic processing of PXDN. The blots are representative of three independent experiments.

3.4 Studying the crosslinking activity, proprotein convertase processing, and localization of various double-tagged PXDN constructs

To study the behavior of different PXDN constructs in a cell culture model, we used the previously described KO PFHR-9 cells. In this model, the cells produce an uncrosslinked collagen IV network compared with WT PFHR-9 cells (Figure 11.A). To further investigate PXDN proprotein convertase cleavage, we planned a double-tagged PXDN construct with a FLAG-tag at the N-terminus after the signal peptide and at the Cterminus with a V5-tag. The schematic drawings of all the constructs that we used in the following experiments can be seen in Figure 16. In Figure 11.B we can see that if we transfect the KO PFHR-9 cells with this double-tagged, full-length PXDN coding plasmid, the V5 antibody will detect a single band around the predicted molecular weight of PXDN. Meanwhile, if we use the FLAG antibody, we can see a double band at that molecular weight (Figure 11.C). In the latter case, the lower band represents the cleaved form of PXDN. The transfected cells' crosslinking activity was rescued (Figure 11.D), which proved that the newly developed double-labeled PXDN is functional. Our labor previously investigated PXDN localization with a C-terminally labeled PXDN construct, and we observed a cell-associated PXDN signal (39). Based on the knowledge that PXDN processing occurs close to the C-terminus, we thought that probably the cell-associated PXDN signal of the C-terminally tagged construct represented only the unprocessed form of PXDN. To figure out whether the cleaved protein can appear in a different localization, we transfected the KO PFHR-9 cells with the double-tagged PXDN, and consecutively we immunostained with both anti-FLAG-, and anti-V5-antibodies. In Figure 11.J, we can observe an intracellular, cell-associated V5 signal. In Figure 11.I the FLAG signal, besides being cell-associated it is also extracellularly located around the neighboring cells in a network-like structure. These FLAG signals can be detected even far away from the transfected cell (indicated by white arrows).



Figure 11. Characterization of a double-labeled PXDN construct in KO PFHR-9 cells. (A) KO PFHR-9 cells produce uncrosslinked collagen IV, on the blot, the upper band represents the crosslinked NC1 dimers, the lower band is the uncrosslinked NC1 monomer. In the case of WT PFHR-9 cells, we can detect dimers and monomers with an Alpha1 collagen IV specific antibody. Meanwhile, in the KO PFHR-9 cells, we can only see the uncrosslinked monomers in the collagenase digested protein sample. (B) Detection of the double-tagged PXDN in KO PFHR-9 cells with the help of C-terminally located V5-tag. (C) Detection of the double-tagged PXDN with the N-terminally placed FLAG-tag in KO PFHR-9 cells. The upper band is the unprocessed the lower one is the proteolytically processed form of PXDN. (D) The double-tagged PXDN construct can

rescue the crosslinking activity in the KO PFHR-9 cells. (E-H) Immunostaining of untransfected KO PFHR-9 cells (control) represents the absence of FLAG-(E) and V5 (F) signals. (G) Nuclear staining with TO-PRO-3 (blue) and the merged picture (H) proves the presence of the cells on the coverslip. (I-L) Immunostaining of double-tagged PXDN transfected KO PFHR-9 cells. (I) The FLAG signal (green) appears both in a cell-associated and extracellular network-like localization (arrows). (J) The V5 signal (red) is only present at the cell-associated localization. (K) TO-PRO-3 (blue) staining shows the presence of nuclei. (L) On the merged photo, we can observe the partial colocalization of V5- and FLAG signals in a cell-associated manner; meanwhile, only the FLAG signal appears in a net-like pattern around the cells. The bar indicates 10 μ m. The blots and immunostainings are representative of three independent experiments.

One of our goals was to examine with our newly developed tools how the proprotein convertase processing of PXDN can influence the crosslinking activity- and localization of PXDN. With ProP 1.0 proprotein cleavage prediction software, we found two potential sites for cleavage. One predicted site, Arg1336 was the same as what Colon et al. have identified before (53). The software indicated another highly probable proteolysis site at Lys1355. We introduced mutations in the full-length, double-tagged PXDN construct. Arg1335 and Arg1336 were changed to alanines in one plasmid (RR/AA 1335-1336), and Arg1354 and Lys1355 were mutated to alanines in another construct (RK/AA 1354-1355). Finally, we also made a double mutant construct that carries both mutations. In Figure 12.A upper panel, we can see that transfection of the RR/AA 1335-1336 construct into KO PFHR-9 cells resulted in reduced proteolytic processing of PXDN (the lower band intensity is way smaller than, the higher one compared with the unmutated construct detected with FLAG antibody), the RK/AA 1354-1355 didn't decrease the processing, and the double mutant behaved similarly to the RR/AA 1335-1336 construct. In Figure **12.A** lowest panel we can see, that the collagen IV crosslinking activity was reduced in the case of the RR/AA 1335-1336 and the double mutant construct transfection. This points to the conclusion that proteolytic processing of PXDN may have a role in regulating the crosslinking activity of PXDN. Next, we examined the effect of mutations on the localization of PXDN. We saw that the mutant PXDN also could be deposited extracellularly in a net-like pattern (Figure 12.B), but importantly the V5 signal was still just cell-associated. It could not be detected in the network around the cells (Figure 12.C).



Figure 12. Investigation of PXDN's proteolytic processing. (A) Western blot analysis of KO PFHR-9 cells transfected with double-tagged, unmutated PXDN, or with double-tagged, proprotein convertase target site mutated PXDN constructs (RR/AA 1335-1336, RK/AA 1354-1355, double mutant). The upper panel shows that the lower FLAG-specific band's intensity is less in the RR/AA 1335-1336 and the double mutant (indicated with asterisks), proving the importance of the 1336Arg in the proteolytic processing. Under the FLAG and V5 blots, we can see the corresponding loading controls. On the lowest panel, we can observe that decreased proteolytic processing of PXDN also reduces its collagen IV crosslinking activity in the KO PFHR-9 cells. **(B-D)** Immunostaining of the

RR/AA 1335-1336 mutant expressing cells. (B) FLAG signal (green) appears both in a cell-associated and extracellular localization. (C) The V5 signal (red) is only present in association with the cell. (D) The merged picture of the two signals shows partial colocalization. The bar indicates 10 μ m. The blots and immunostainings are representative of three independent experiments.

To further investigate the preconditions of PXDN's proteolytic processing, we also examined the behavior of a PXDN mutant that is unable to form oligomers. Previously we identified two cysteine residues (Cys736 and Cys1315) necessary for creating disulfide bridge coupled PXDN trimers (39). Transfection of KO PFHR-9 cells with the trimerization mutant form of PXDN (C736S, C1315S) resulted in a slightly reduced cleavage of PXDN compared with the wild type PXDN transfected KO cells (Figure 13.A). We have already described that this mutant has less crosslinking activity (Figure 13.A the lowest panel) (39). Localization of the trimerization mutant PXDN showed a more diffuse extracellular staining. We could not observe the net-like pattern of the FLAG signal (Figure 13.B). The V5-signal (Figure 13.C) was cell-associated as we saw it with the other constructs.



Figure 13. Analysis of the effect of PXDN oligomerization on the proteolytic processing and localization of the protein. (A) Western blot experiments with the trimerization mutant PXDN (C736S, C1315S) shows slightly reduced proteolytic cleavage detected with the FLAG antibody (upper panel). Under the FLAG and V5 blots, we can see the corresponding loading controls. On the lowest panel, we see that the monomeric PXDN form has less collagen IV crosslinking activity than the wild type PXDN. (B-D) Immunostaining of the trimerization mutant PXDN transfected KO PFHR-9 cells. (B) The FLAG-signal (green) appears in a cell-associated and diffuse extracellular pattern, lacking the previously seen network-like structure. (C) The V5 signal (red) is only cell-associated. (D) On the merged picture, the cell-associated FLAG-, and V5-signals are colocalized. The bar indicates 10 μm. The blots and immunostainings are representative of three independent experiments.

The cleavage of proteins by proprotein convertases can happen at different intracellular sites, for example, in the trans-Golgi network, at other points of the secretory pathway, or on the external surface of the plasma membrane (93). We wanted to know where the

cleavage of PXDN occurs. Is it an extracellular or an intracellular event? We created a mutant of PXDN that cannot leave the cell because of an ER-retention signal (KDEL) at the C-terminus of the protein. The ER-retention mutant PXDN (KDEL) expression in KO PFHR-9 cells led to the accumulation of cell-associated, unprocessed PXDN (Figure 14.A). On the lowest panel of Figure 14.A we can see that this modification of PXDN destroyed the crosslinking activity of the enzyme. Analysis of the immunostained ER-retention mutant expressing KO PFHR-9 samples with FLAG- and V5 antibodies proved that this retention signal at the C-terminus prevented the secretion of PXDN and led to its intracellular accumulation (Figure 14.B-D).



Figure 14. Analysis of the ER-retention mutant PXDN (KDEL) in KO PFHR-9 cells. (A) Western blot experiments of KDEL mutant show that the mutant form is less processed than the wild type PXDN (upper panel, increased intensity of upper FLAG-specific band in the KDEL mutant), the V5 signal is more prominent in the case of the KDEL mutant, probably because of the accumulation of the mutated protein in the cell.

Under the FLAG and V5 blots, we can see the corresponding loading controls. At the lowest panel, we can see that the KDEL mutant has no collagen IV crosslinking activity. **(B-D)** Immunostaining of the KDEL mutant shows that both FLAG signal (green) and V5 signals (red) are cell-associated and colocalized. There is no FLAG signal extracellularly. The bar indicates 10 μ m. The blots and immunostainings are representative of three independent experiments.

3.5 Investigating the role of peroxidase activity in the proteolytic processing of PXDN and PXDNL

PXDN is an active peroxidase enzyme. We were interested in whether the peroxidase activity has any effect on the proteolytic processing of PXDN. This question can be important because, as we saw, the unprocessed PXDN has less collagen IV crosslinking activity. Some circumstances can reduce the enzymatic activity of the protein, such as thiocyanate ion. An other relevance of this question to be raised is PXDNL. We know that PXDNL is highly homologous to PXDN, possessing the same domain structure, still because of the change of some critical amino acid residues in the active center of the peroxidase domain, it doesn't have detectable peroxidase activity (74). Our approach to answer this question was first applying a known peroxidase inhibitor, phloroglucinol (PHG). This drug can inhibit the collagen IV crosslinking activity of PXDN (40). In Figure 15.A we can see that the PHG treatment reduced the proteolytic processing of the wild type PXDN and on the lowest panel of Figure 15.A we can see that it also decreased the crosslinking activity (by this, we proved that the drug treatment was effective) of PXDN. Next, we transfected the KO PFHR-9 cells with a peroxidase activity-mutant PXDN construct. In this plasmid, two critical amino acid residues are mutated (Gln823Trp and Asp826Glu), which results in a diminished peroxidase activity (39). In Figure 15.A upper panel, we can see that the peroxidase activity-mutant PXDN's (Q823W, D826E) proteolytic processing is reduced, compared to the wild type PXDN the intensity of the lower FLAG-specific band is less intense. We can also see on the lowest blot that this mutation prevents the crosslinking of the collagen IV NC1 domains. We analyzed the localization of this construct and observed a similar pattern in the FLAGand V5 signals as in the case of the wild type PXDN (Figure 15.B-D). We often detected the extracellular FLAG signal in smaller areas around the cell, and the signal was less organized in a network.

We were interested in the possible proteolytic processing of PXDNL. We used the same previously mentioned software to search for potential cleavage sites in the PXDNL sequence. We found a candidate site at Arg1319. The sequence of this site was different from the one in PXDN. It was interesting that after this site, the C-terminal part of PXDNL is just one amino acid longer than in the case of PXDN (144 amino acids in PXDNL and 143 amino acids in PXDN).

We created a double-tagged (FLAG-tag at the N-terminus, V5-tag at the C-terminus) fulllength PXDNL coding construct to study the proteolytic processing of PXDNL. We can see in **Figure 15.A** that if we transfect the KO PFHR-9 cells with this plasmid (PXDNL), there is no processing, we cannot observe the lower FLAG-specific band even after prolonged exposure, and as we expected, this construct is unable to crosslink collagen IV molecules (lowest blot of Figure 15.A). We hypothesized that this unsuccessful cleavage of PXDNL might result from the inability of the protease enzyme to recognize the potential cleavage site. To test this idea, we created another PXDN mutant in which the efficiently working proprotein convertase recognition site is replaced with the one in the PXDNL sequence. This PXDN mutant (RGR/QKK1333-1335) was effectively cleaved in the KO PFHR-9 cells, and of course, it was able to crosslink the collagen IV molecules (Figure 15.A lowest blot). This result combined with the one observed with PHG treatment and with the Q823W, D826E mutant PXDN suggest that peroxidase activity relates to the posttranslational proteolytic processing of PXDN.





Figure 15. Investigation of the influence of peroxidase activity on the proteolytic processing of PXDN and PXDNL. (A) Pharmacological inhibition of wild type PXDN transfected KO PFHR-9 cells with phloroglucinol in 50 µM decreased the cleavage of PXDN (less intense lower FLAG-specific band compared with the PXDN transfected untreated sample). In the peroxidase-mutant PXDN construct (Q823W, D826E) transfected cells, the cleavage of PXDN was also reduced. PXDNL is not cleaved based on our experiments, although it posses a possible cleavage site for proprotein convertase enzymes. On the other hand, the cleavage site imported from PXDNL in PXDN can be

cleaved efficiently (RGR/QKK1333-1335). Under the FLAG blot, we can see the corresponding loading control. On the lowest blot, we can see that PHG treatment inhibits the crosslinking activity of PXDN, the peroxidase activity mutant PXDN construct is also unable to form crosslinks, PXDNL, which doesn't have peroxidase activity, cannot form dimers of NC1 domains, and the RGR/QKK1333-1335 mutant PXDN can crosslink the monomers because it has the active peroxidase domain. **(B-D)** Immunostaining of Q823W, D826E transfected KO PFHR-9 cells show similar FLAG- and V5-specific staining than in the case of wild type PXDN transfected cells. The FLAG signal extracellular pattern is slightly different from what we can observe in the wild type PXDN stainings. The bar indicates 10 µm. The blots and immunostainings are representative of three independent experiments.

In **Figure 16.** we can see the designs of all the PXDN and PXDNL constructs we used in the previously described experiments.



Figure 16. Schematic pictures of the PXDN and PXDNL constructs we used in the experiments.

4. Discussion

In basement membranes the unique sulfilimine bond formation between collagen IV molecules is catalyzed by PXDN (40). During the oxidative crosslinking of the NC1 domains Br is oxidized to HOBr (45). The collagen IV network-stabilizing sulfilimine bond and the enzyme, PXDN which catalyzes its formation, seem essential in the organogenesis during the evolution of multicellular animals (55). There are still many open questions related to this protein. One of them is the source of H_2O_2 for the collagen IV crosslinking. We tried to investigate this issue with the help of several genetically modified mouse model systems. There are many examples of cooperation between Nox/Duox enzymes and animal heme peroxidases, so we wondered whether the NADPH oxidases could provide the H₂O₂ for PXDN. We examined the crosslinking activity in organs derived from Nox4 knockout mice (90). This idea was encouraged because Nox4 is expressed in cells usually surrounded by basement membranes (3, 94). We didn't find a decreased crosslinking activity in the tested organs, proving that Nox4 is not the source of H_2O_2 . We also analyzed the crosslinking activity in a mouse strain that lacks functional p22^{phox} protein (90). This protein is required for Nox1, Nox2, Nox3, Nox4 activity (95, 96). Testing this mouse model allowed us to investigate the possible involvement of several Nox isoforms. In these experiments, we again found intact crosslinking activity, excluding the role of these enzymes from the H_2O_2 production (90). Dual oxidases are also expressed in epithelial cells (97, 98), so they could be a good H_2O_2 source for PXDN. We analyzed the collagen IV crosslinking in DuoxA1 and DuoxA2 double knockout mice and Duox1 KO mice. In both model animals, we found a proper crosslinking activity (90). To further investigate the H_2O_2 source for PXDN, we used the PFHR-9 cell culture model and created a PXDN KO PFHR-9 cell line. In the WT PFHR-9 cells, we tried several oxygen concentrations for 24 hours and analyzed the NC1 dimer/monomer ratios (during these experiments, the KO PFHR-9 was used as a control). In conclusion, we saw that the crosslinking activity of PXDN was undisturbed by hypoxic treatments (90). With the help of the WT and KO PFHR-9 cells, we also investigated the mitochondria as a possible ROS source for crosslinking. Different approaches were established, like diphenyliodonium (DPI) treatment of the cells or targeting heterologously expressed catalase to the cytosol and mitochondrial matrix. In none of these experiments did we find impaired crosslinking activity (90). Taken together our findings, we couldn't identify the

ROS source for PXDN, but we could exclude many possible sources (Nox/Duox enzymes, mitochondria). During my Ph.D work, we tried to get to know more about PXDN and PXDNL proteins. As a part of this work, we created a KO PFHR-9 cell line. This cell line allowed us to study the proteolytic processing of PXDN and PXDNL, the crosslinking activity, and the localization of PXDN. As was mentioned above, this cell-based experimental system also contributed to the study of PXDN's H₂O₂ source.

We developed a new mouse model, the HA-PXDN mouse. This mouse expresses an Nterminally HA-tagged PXDN. This tag doesn't disturb the biological function of PXDN. We didn't see the characteristic phenotype of the PXDN knockout mouse in the case of HA-PXDN animals. Also, we found undisturbed crosslinking activity in these knockin mice. With the help of the newly developed mouse, we proved that the proteolytic cleavage of PXDN could happen *in vivo*, and we could immunostain PXDN in the developing embryonic eye by using an HA-specific antibody. This was impossible before using the PXDN KO mouse as a negative control because of the ASD these animals display during their development (56).

From the HA-PXDN mice, we could prepare a primary cell culture, the HA-PXDN MEF cells. In the cell culture, we applied the furin/proprotein convertase inhibitor CMK, which effectively reduced the lower molecular weight form of HA-PXDN. This confirmed that the two bands of PXDN, which we detected in the organs of the HA-PXDN mouse, are the unprocessed and the proteolytically processed forms of PXDN. To support this data, we repeated the CMK treatment on PFHR-9 cells and found similar results. Furthermore, we also treated the PFHR-9 cells with furin-specific siRNA, which decreased the processing as well. This data is fundamental because it highlights that from the proprotein convertase enzymes furin is the one, which has a role in PXDN's cleavage.

We gained information from the KO PFHR-9 cells about the processing, crosslinking activity, and localization of PXDN, and how these are affected by specific structural changes in the protein. To address these problems, we made a double-tagged PXDN construct (N-terminally FLAG-tagged and C-terminally V5-tagged). If this plasmid was expressed in the KO PFHR-9 cells, it could rescue the crosslinking activity, and we could immunostain it as well with the help of the epitope-specific antibodies. Both tags were detected intracellularly, but only the FLAG tag was present extracellularly in a net-like

pattern. This pointed out that probably the cleaved form of PXDN (which doesn't have the V5 tag) can be built in the ECM.

Modification of the double-tagged PXDN with site-directed mutagenesis allowed us to study the possible proteolysis site in PXDN. We confirmed that Arg 1336 is the site where it occurs. This is the same place that was reported previously by Colon et *al.* (53). The mutation didn't completely abolish the proteolytic processing of PXDN, and it reduced the crosslinking activity. The processed mutated construct was detected extracellularly, but again just with FLAG-specific antibody. This further confirmed that the unprocessed form doesn't integrate into the ECM.

From a long time ago, we know that the Drosophila PXDN is present in the forms of oligomers (26). Our laboratory proved that trimerization also occurs in human PXDN. We identified the cysteine residues, which are responsible for the disulfide bridge formation (cysteine 736, cysteine 1315) (39). We studied the effect of oligomerization on the processing, crosslinking activity, and localization of PXDN. The trimerization mutant PXDN (C736S, C1315S) was slightly less processed than the WT PXDN and had a smaller crosslinking activity. Furthermore, its localization was also more diffuse extracellularly than in the case of the WT PXDN. Thus, it suggested that the oligomerization might be an important event for PXDN's integration into the ECM.

To explore the place of PXDN proteolytic processing, we created a PXDN construct attached with an ER-retention signal (KDEL). This mutant was less processed, had no crosslinking activity, and its localization was entirely intracellular. These results pointed out that the processing probably happens after the ER and the crosslinking of collagen IV also occurs after PXDN leaves the ER. Thus, the crosslinking site may be a cell surface-associated "hot spot" [38] or somewhere extracellular.

During our work, we also found that the peroxidase activity of PXDN also plays a role in furin-mediated processing. Inhibition of the peroxidase activity with PHG decreased the cleavage of the protein, and the peroxidase domain mutated form of PXDN (which doesn't have peroxidase activity) was even less processed compared to the PHG treated WT PXDN. This finding suggests that before the furin processing, maybe a quality control system works and checks whether PXDN has the peroxidase activity or not. Furthermore, we saw that the furin site mutated PXDN has less crosslinking activity, so

somehow the cleavage of PXDN enhances its enzymatic activity. Which might indicate that it wouldn't make sense for the cell to process the PXDN if it lacks the peroxidase activity and therefore it doesn't proceed with it. The deeper mechanism of this possible "quality control" mechanism is honestly still unknown to us. There are data about furin's possible inhibition by H₂O₂. In a publication, it was proposed that H₂O₂-mediated oxidation of furin decreases its Ca^{2+} -binding capacity, thereby decreases its activity (99). So our theory is that the reduced peroxidase activity could lead to the accumulation of H₂O₂, which could then oxidize furin, leading to lower furin activity with reduced PXDN processing. The intact catalytic activity as a precondition of heme peroxidase maturation was already described in MPO, where the heme-binding was proved to be an essential step in the maturation of the enzyme (100). Furin is interesting from other aspects as well. As our knowledge is emerging about COVID-19, we know that one of the most critical variations in the sequence of SARS-CoV-2 S protein is an insertion of positively charged amino acids at the S1/S2 site. This insertion creates a cleavage site for furin-like proteases (101-104). The proteolytic cleavage ensures virus entry into the cell by activation of the S protein. So altogether, the furin cleavage increases the pathogenicity of the virus.

PXDNL is highly homologous to PXDN, and we were curious whether this protein can be proteolytically processed or not. This question was interesting because due to amino acid changes in its peroxidase domain, it cannot bind heme and doesn't have peroxidase activity (74). We created a double-tagged PXDNL (N-terminally FLAG-tagged and C-terminally V5-tagged), transfected it into KO PFHR-9 cells, and found that PXDNL is not processed at all. The result was surprising because the cleavage site prediction software found a possible sequence motif for proteolysis. Importing this motif into PXDN instead of its furin-cleavage site allowed us to see whether the motif itself is working in other proteins or not. According to our results, the sequence imported from PXDNL into PXDN was recognized and cleaved by furin. This result further supports our idea about the importance of peroxidase activity in furin-mediated processing. On the other hand, it can be interesting whether PXDNL processing can occur *in vivo* in the heart. If not, can this somehow influence the interactions of PXDNL with other possible molecular partners?

In summary, our observations made us get many steps closer to understanding the behavior and biological relevance of PXDN and PXDNL proteins.

5. Conclusions

Based on our experiments, we can make the following conclusions:

1. We successfully created a PXDN knockout PFHR-9 cell line (KO PFHR-9) with the CRISPR-Cas9 technique. The cells don't have detectable PXDN production with Western blot. They produce an uncrosslinked collagen IV network.

2. We developed a new mouse model with the CRISPR-Cas9 technique, which expresses an N-terminally hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged PXDN (HA-PXDN). With the help of this animal, we proved that proprotein convertase processing of PXDN could occur *in vivo*. Furthermore, in the developing eye of this mouse strain, we studied the localization of PXDN.

3. In a primary cell culture (MEF), which we prepared from the HA-PXDN mice embryos, we could decrease the processing of PXDN with a furin/proprotein convertase inhibitor (CMK). In PFHR-9 cells, we pharmacologically inhibited the proteolytic cleavage of PXDN. With furin-specific siRNA treatment of PFHR-9 cells, we could identify that furin has a role in the proprotein convertase processing of PXDN.

4. We studied the crosslinking activity, proprotein convertase processing, and localization of a double-tagged wild type, proprotein convertase site mutated, trimerization, and ER-retention mutant PXDN in KO PFHR-9 cells. We confirmed that the proteolysis site is at 1336Arg and that the cleavage site mutant PXDN has lower crosslinking activity. With immunostaining, we proved that only the processed form of PXDN could be built into the ECM. The trimerization mutant processing was slightly decreased, and the ER-retention mutant was less processed and didn't have crosslinking activity.

5. We found that in the case of the pharmacological inhibition of PXDN's peroxidase activity with PHG, the processing of PXDN is reduced. We saw decreased processing in the peroxidase activity mutant PXDN as well. We created a double-tagged PXDNL and examined the processing of this construct. According to our experiments, PXDNL is not cleaved in KO PFHR-9 cells even though it possesses a potential cleavage site for proprotein convertase enzymes.

6. Summary

PXDN and PXDNL belong to the peroxidase-cyclooxygenase superfamily. Both of them share a similar domain structure, which is special amongst the animal heme peroxidases. The unique feature of these proteins is the combination of a peroxidase domain with other conserved motifs usually present in ECM proteins (LRRs, C2 type Ig-like domain, vWFC domain) and mediate protein-protein interactions. PXDN's only known physiological function is the crosslinking of NC1 domains between adjoining collagen IV molecules. The reaction requires Br^{-} and H_2O_2 . The source of H_2O_2 is currently unknown. We excluded the different Nox/Duox enzymes as a possible source, and our initial data also indicate that the mitochondria are most probably not the source either. We created a new animal model, a new cell culture model, and a new "PXDN construct model" in our work. These new tools helped to prove that PXDN proteolytic processing can occur in vivo, and the protease that has role in it is the furin. The new mouse model can be beneficial in studying PXDN localization. We confirmed that the site of proteolysis is at 1336Arg. With the help of heterogeneous expression of different PXDN constructs in KO PFHR-9 cells, we characterized the relevance of PXDN oligomerization, and the place of the furin processing. Our experiments also revealed a new insight into PXDN and PXDNL maturation mechanisms. We found that peroxidase activity might be a prerequisite of furin processing. In the case of pharmacological inhibition of peroxidase activity, or inactivating mutation of the peroxidase domain, PXDN's furin-mediated processing is significantly reduced. The endogenous PXDNL doesn't have peroxidase activity due to critical amino acid residue changes in the peroxidase domain, and it is not processed at all in a heterologously expressed system.

7. References

- Shields HJ, Traa A, Van Raamsdonk JM. (2021) Beneficial and Detrimental Effects of Reactive Oxygen Species on Lifespan: A Comprehensive Review of Comparative and Experimental Studies. Front Cell Dev Biol, 9: 628157.
- 2. Gough DR, Cotter TG. (2011) Hydrogen peroxide: a Jekyll and Hyde signalling molecule. Cell Death Dis, 2: e213.
- 3. Bedard K, Krause KH. (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev, 87: 245-313.
- Segal BH, Leto TL, Gallin JI, Malech HL, Holland SM. (2000) Genetic, biochemical, and clinical features of chronic granulomatous disease. Medicine (Baltimore), 79: 170-200.
- Moreno JC, Bikker H, Kempers MJ, van Trotsenburg AS, Baas F, de Vijlder JJ, Vulsma T, Ris-Stalpers C. (2002) Inactivating mutations in the gene for thyroid oxidase 2 (THOX2) and congenital hypothyroidism. N Engl J Med, 347: 95-102.
- Schroder K. (2020) NADPH oxidases: Current aspects and tools. Redox Biol, 34: 101512.
- 7. Zana M, Peterfi Z, Kovacs HA, Toth ZE, Enyedi B, Morel F, Paclet MH, Donko A, Morand S, Leto TL, Geiszt M. (2018) Interaction between p22(phox) and Nox4 in the endoplasmic reticulum suggests a unique mechanism of NADPH oxidase complex formation. Free Radic Biol Med, 116: 41-49.
- Sirokmany G, Donko A, Geiszt M. (2016) Nox/Duox Family of NADPH Oxidases: Lessons from Knockout Mouse Models. Trends Pharmacol Sci, 37: 318-327.
- Geiszt M. (2006) NADPH oxidases: new kids on the block. Cardiovasc Res, 71: 289-299.
- Suh YA, Arnold RS, Lassegue B, Shi J, Xu X, Sorescu D, Chung AB, Griendling KK, Lambeth JD. (1999) Cell transformation by the superoxide-generating oxidase Mox1. Nature, 401: 79-82.
- Matsuno K, Yamada H, Iwata K, Jin D, Katsuyama M, Matsuki M, Takai S, Yamanishi K, Miyazaki M, Matsubara H, Yabe-Nishimura C. (2005) Nox1 is involved in angiotensin II-mediated hypertension: a study in Nox1-deficient mice. Circulation, 112: 2677-2685.

- Gavazzi G, Banfi B, Deffert C, Fiette L, Schappi M, Herrmann F, Krause KH. (2006) Decreased blood pressure in NOX1-deficient mice. FEBS Lett, 580: 497-504.
- Kovacs I, Horvath M, Lanyi A, Petheo GL, Geiszt M. (2015) Reactive oxygen species-mediated bacterial killing by B lymphocytes. J Leukoc Biol, 97: 1133-1137.
- Geiszt M, Kopp JB, Varnai P, Leto TL. (2000) Identification of renox, an NAD(P)H oxidase in kidney. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 97: 8010-8014.
- 15. Zhang M, Brewer AC, Schroder K, Santos CX, Grieve DJ, Wang M, Anilkumar N, Yu B, Dong X, Walker SJ, Brandes RP, Shah AM. (2010) NADPH oxidase-4 mediates protection against chronic load-induced stress in mouse hearts by enhancing angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 107: 18121-18126.
- 16. Petheo GL, Kerekes A, Mihalffy M, Donko A, Bodrogi L, Skoda G, Barath M, Hoffmann OI, Szeles Z, Balazs B, Sirokmany G, Fabian JR, Toth ZE, Baksa I, Kacskovics I, Hunyady L, Hiripi L, Bosze Z, Geiszt M. (2021) Disruption of the NOX5 Gene Aggravates Atherosclerosis in Rabbits. Circ Res, 128: 1320-1322.
- Geiszt M, Witta J, Baffi J, Lekstrom K, Leto TL. (2003) Dual oxidases represent novel hydrogen peroxide sources supporting mucosal surface host defense. FASEB J, 17: 1502-1504.
- Donko A, Ruisanchez E, Orient A, Enyedi B, Kapui R, Peterfi Z, de Deken X, Benyo Z, Geiszt M. (2010) Urothelial cells produce hydrogen peroxide through the activation of Duox1. Free Radic Biol Med, 49: 2040-2048.
- Sirokmany G, Pato A, Zana M, Donko A, Biro A, Nagy P, Geiszt M. (2016) Epidermal growth factor-induced hydrogen peroxide production is mediated by dual oxidase 1. Free Radic Biol Med, 97: 204-211.
- Furtmuller PG, Zederbauer M, Jantschko W, Helm J, Bogner M, Jakopitsch C, Obinger C. (2006) Active site structure and catalytic mechanisms of human peroxidases. Arch Biochem Biophys, 445: 199-213.
- 21. Davies MJ. (2021) Myeloperoxidase: Mechanisms, reactions and inhibition as a therapeutic strategy in inflammatory diseases. Pharmacol Ther, 218: 107685.
- 22. Sirokmany G, Geiszt M. (2019) The Relationship of NADPH Oxidases and Heme Peroxidases: Fallin' in and Out. Front Immunol, 10: 394.

- 23. Zamocky M, Jakopitsch C, Furtmuller PG, Dunand C, Obinger C. (2008) The peroxidase-cyclooxygenase superfamily: Reconstructed evolution of critical enzymes of the innate immune system. Proteins, 72: 589-605.
- 24. Vlasova, II. (2018) Peroxidase Activity of Human Hemoproteins: Keeping the Fire under Control. Molecules, 23.
- 25. Davies MJ, Hawkins CL, Pattison DI, Rees MD. (2008) Mammalian heme peroxidases: from molecular mechanisms to health implications. Antioxid Redox Signal, 10: 1199-1234.
- Nelson RE, Fessler LI, Takagi Y, Blumberg B, Keene DR, Olson PF, Parker CG, Fessler JH. (1994) Peroxidasin: a novel enzyme-matrix protein of Drosophila development. EMBO J, 13: 3438-3447.
- Peterfi Z, Geiszt M. (2014) Peroxidasins: novel players in tissue genesis. Trends Biochem Sci, 39: 305-307.
- Horikoshi N, Cong J, Kley N, Shenk T. (1999) Isolation of differentially expressed cDNAs from p53-dependent apoptotic cells: activation of the human homologue of the Drosophila peroxidasin gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 261: 864-869.
- 29. Mitchell MS, Kan-Mitchell J, Minev B, Edman C, Deans RJ. (2000) A novel melanoma gene (MG50) encoding the interleukin 1 receptor antagonist and six epitopes recognized by human cytolytic T lymphocytes. Cancer Res, 60: 6448-6456.
- Cheng G, Salerno JC, Cao Z, Pagano PJ, Lambeth JD. (2008) Identification and characterization of VPO1, a new animal heme-containing peroxidase. Free Radic Biol Med, 45: 1682-1694.
- 31. Bella J, Hindle KL, McEwan PA, Lovell SC. (2008) The leucine-rich repeat structure. Cell Mol Life Sci, 65: 2307-2333.
- Kobe B, Kajava AV. (2001) The leucine-rich repeat as a protein recognition motif. Curr Opin Struct Biol, 11: 725-732.
- 33. Kaas Q, Ehrenmann F, Lefranc MP. (2007) IG, TR and IgSF, MHC and MhcSF: what do we learn from the IMGT Colliers de Perles? Brief Funct Genomic Proteomic, 6: 253-264.

- 34. Soudi M, Zamocky M, Jakopitsch C, Furtmuller PG, Obinger C. (2012) Molecular evolution, structure, and function of peroxidasins. Chem Biodivers, 9: 1776-1793.
- O'Leary JM, Hamilton JM, Deane CM, Valeyev NV, Sandell LJ, Downing AK.
 (2004) Solution structure and dynamics of a prototypical chordin-like cysteinerich repeat (von Willebrand Factor type C module) from collagen IIA. J Biol Chem, 279: 53857-53866.
- 36. Sadler JE. (2009) von Willebrand factor assembly and secretion. J Thromb Haemost, 7 Suppl 1: 24-27.
- 37. Zhang JL, Qiu LY, Kotzsch A, Weidauer S, Patterson L, Hammerschmidt M, Sebald W, Mueller TD. (2008) Crystal structure analysis reveals how the Chordin family member crossveinless 2 blocks BMP-2 receptor binding. Dev Cell, 14: 739-750.
- 38. Soudi M, Paumann-Page M, Delporte C, Pirker KF, Bellei M, Edenhofer E, Stadlmayr G, Battistuzzi G, Boudjeltia KZ, Furtmuller PG, Van Antwerpen P, Obinger C. (2015) Multidomain human peroxidasin 1 is a highly glycosylated and stable homotrimeric high spin ferric peroxidase. J Biol Chem, 290: 10876-10890.
- 39. Lazar E, Peterfi Z, Sirokmany G, Kovacs HA, Klement E, Medzihradszky KF, Geiszt M. (2015) Structure-function analysis of peroxidasin provides insight into the mechanism of collagen IV crosslinking. Free Radic Biol Med, 83: 273-282.
- 40. Bhave G, Cummings CF, Vanacore RM, Kumagai-Cresse C, Ero-Tolliver IA, Rafi M, Kang JS, Pedchenko V, Fessler LI, Fessler JH, Hudson BG. (2012) Peroxidasin forms sulfilimine chemical bonds using hypohalous acids in tissue genesis. Nat Chem Biol, 8: 784-790.
- 41. Paumann-Page M, Katz RS, Bellei M, Schwartz I, Edenhofer E, Sevcnikar B, Soudi M, Hofbauer S, Battistuzzi G, Furtmuller PG, Obinger C. (2017) Presteady-state Kinetics Reveal the Substrate Specificity and Mechanism of Halide Oxidation of Truncated Human Peroxidasin 1. J Biol Chem, 292: 4583-4592.
- Sevenikar B, Paumann-Page M, Hofbauer S, Pfanzagl V, Furtmuller PG, Obinger C. (2020) Reaction of human peroxidasin 1 compound I and compound II with one-electron donors. Arch Biochem Biophys, 681: 108267.

- Vanacore R, Ham AJ, Voehler M, Sanders CR, Conrads TP, Veenstra TD, Sharpless KB, Dawson PE, Hudson BG. (2009) A sulfilimine bond identified in collagen IV. Science, 325: 1230-1234.
- Ero-Tolliver IA, Hudson BG, Bhave G. (2015) The Ancient Immunoglobulin Domains of Peroxidasin Are Required to Form Sulfilimine Cross-links in Collagen IV. J Biol Chem, 290: 21741-21748.
- McCall AS, Cummings CF, Bhave G, Vanacore R, Page-McCaw A, Hudson BG.
 (2014) Bromine is an essential trace element for assembly of collagen IV scaffolds in tissue development and architecture. Cell, 157: 1380-1392.
- 46. Skaff O, Pattison DI, Davies MJ. (2009) Hypothiocyanous acid reactivity with low-molecular-mass and protein thiols: absolute rate constants and assessment of biological relevance. Biochem J, 422: 111-117.
- 47. Vesey CJ, Saloojee Y, Cole PV, Russell MA. (1982) Blood carboxyhaemoglobin, plasma thiocyanate, and cigarette consumption: implications for epidemiological studies in smokers. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed), 284: 1516-1518.
- Bathish B, Turner R, Paumann-Page M, Kettle AJ, Winterbourn CC. (2018) Characterisation of peroxidasin activity in isolated extracellular matrix and direct detection of hypobromous acid formation. Arch Biochem Biophys, 646: 120-127.
- 49. Pattison DI, Davies MJ. (2004) Kinetic analysis of the reactions of hypobromous acid with protein components: implications for cellular damage and use of 3-bromotyrosine as a marker of oxidative stress. Biochemistry, 43: 4799-4809.
- 50. Sevenikar B, Schaffner I, Chuang CY, Gamon L, Paumann-Page M, Hofbauer S, Davies MJ, Furtmuller PG, Obinger C. (2020) The leucine-rich repeat domain of human peroxidasin 1 promotes binding to laminin in basement membranes. Arch Biochem Biophys, 689: 108443.
- 51. He C, Song W, Weston TA, Tran C, Kurtz I, Zuckerman JE, Guagliardo P, Miner JH, Ivanov SV, Bougoure J, Hudson BG, Colon S, Voziyan PA, Bhave G, Fong LG, Young SG, Jiang H. (2020) Peroxidasin-mediated bromine enrichment of basement membranes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 117: 15827-15836.
- Bathish B, Paumann-Page M, Paton LN, Kettle AJ, Winterbourn CC. (2020) Peroxidasin mediates bromination of tyrosine residues in the extracellular matrix. J Biol Chem, 295: 12697-12705.

- 53. Colon S, Bhave G. (2016) Proprotein Convertase Processing Enhances Peroxidasin Activity to Reinforce Collagen IV. J Biol Chem, 291: 24009-24016.
- 54. Gotenstein JR, Swale RE, Fukuda T, Wu Z, Giurumescu CA, Goncharov A, Jin Y, Chisholm AD. (2010) The C. elegans peroxidasin PXN-2 is essential for embryonic morphogenesis and inhibits adult axon regeneration. Development, 137: 3603-3613.
- 55. Fidler AL, Vanacore RM, Chetyrkin SV, Pedchenko VK, Bhave G, Yin VP, Stothers CL, Rose KL, McDonald WH, Clark TA, Borza DB, Steele RE, Ivy MT, Aspirnauts, Hudson JK, Hudson BG. (2014) A unique covalent bond in basement membrane is a primordial innovation for tissue evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 111: 331-336.
- 56. Yan X, Sabrautzki S, Horsch M, Fuchs H, Gailus-Durner V, Beckers J, Hrabe de Angelis M, Graw J. (2014) Peroxidasin is essential for eye development in the mouse. Hum Mol Genet, 23: 5597-5614.
- 57. Kim HK, Ham KA, Lee SW, Choi HS, Kim HS, Kim HK, Shin HS, Seo KY, Cho Y, Nam KT, Kim IB, Joe YA. (2019) Biallelic Deletion of Pxdn in Mice Leads to Anophthalmia and Severe Eye Malformation. Int J Mol Sci, 20.
- 58. Peterfi Z, Donko A, Orient A, Sum A, Prokai A, Molnar B, Vereb Z, Rajnavolgyi E, Kovacs KJ, Muller V, Szabo AJ, Geiszt M. (2009) Peroxidasin is secreted and incorporated into the extracellular matrix of myofibroblasts and fibrotic kidney. Am J Pathol, 175: 725-735.
- Bhave G, Colon S, Ferrell N. (2017) The sulfilimine cross-link of collagen IV contributes to kidney tubular basement membrane stiffness. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 313: F596-F602.
- 60. Colon S, Luan H, Liu Y, Meyer C, Gewin L, Bhave G. (2019) Peroxidasin and eosinophil peroxidase, but not myeloperoxidase, contribute to renal fibrosis in the murine unilateral ureteral obstruction model. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 316: F360-F371.
- McCall AS, Bhave G, Pedchenko V, Hess J, Free M, Little DJ, Baker TP, Pendergraft WF, 3rd, Falk RJ, Olson SW, Hudson BG. (2018) Inhibitory Anti-Peroxidasin Antibodies in Pulmonary-Renal Syndromes. J Am Soc Nephrol, 29: 2619-2625.

- Manral P, Colon S, Bhave G, Zhao MH, Jain S, Borza DB. (2019) Peroxidasin Is a Novel Target of Autoantibodies in Lupus Nephritis. Kidney Int Rep, 4: 1004-1006.
- 63. Khan K, Rudkin A, Parry DA, Burdon KP, McKibbin M, Logan CV, Abdelhamed ZI, Muecke JS, Fernandez-Fuentes N, Laurie KJ, Shires M, Fogarty R, Carr IM, Poulter JA, Morgan JE, Mohamed MD, Jafri H, Raashid Y, Meng N, Piseth H, Toomes C, Casson RJ, Taylor GR, Hammerton M, Sheridan E, Johnson CA, Inglehearn CF, Craig JE, Ali M. (2011) Homozygous mutations in PXDN cause congenital cataract, corneal opacity, and developmental glaucoma. Am J Hum Genet, 89: 464-473.
- 64. Choi A, Lao R, Ling-Fung Tang P, Wan E, Mayer W, Bardakjian T, Shaw GM, Kwok PY, Schneider A, Slavotinek A. (2015) Novel mutations in PXDN cause microphthalmia and anterior segment dysgenesis. Eur J Hum Genet, 23: 337-341.
- 65. Ma A, Yousoof S, Grigg JR, Flaherty M, Minoche AE, Cowley MJ, Nash BM, Ho G, Gayagay T, Lai T, Farnsworth E, Hackett EL, Fisk K, Wong K, Holman KJ, Jenkins G, Cheng A, Martin F, Karaconji T, Elder JE, Enriquez A, Wilson M, Amor DJ, Stutterd CA, Kamien B, Nelson J, Dinger ME, Bennetts B, Jamieson RV. (2020) Revealing hidden genetic diagnoses in the ocular anterior segment disorders. Genet Med, 22: 1623-1632.
- 66. Wierer M, Prestel M, Schiller HB, Yan G, Schaab C, Azghandi S, Werner J, Kessler T, Malik R, Murgia M, Aherrahrou Z, Schunkert H, Dichgans M, Mann M. (2018) Compartment-resolved Proteomic Analysis of Mouse Aorta during Atherosclerotic Plaque Formation Reveals Osteoclast-specific Protein Expression. Mol Cell Proteomics, 17: 321-334.
- Liu Y, Carson-Walter EB, Cooper A, Winans BN, Johnson MD, Walter KA.
 (2010) Vascular gene expression patterns are conserved in primary and metastatic brain tumors. J Neurooncol, 99: 13-24.
- Jayachandran A, Prithviraj P, Lo PH, Walkiewicz M, Anaka M, Woods BL, Tan B, Behren A, Cebon J, McKeown SJ. (2016) Identifying and targeting determinants of melanoma cellular invasion. Oncotarget, 7: 41186-41202.
- 69. Paumann-Page M, Kienzl NF, Motwani J, Bathish B, Paton LN, Magon NJ, Sevenikar B, Furtmuller PG, Traxlmayr MW, Obinger C, Eccles MR,

Winterbourn CC. (2021) Peroxidasin protein expression and enzymatic activity in metastatic melanoma cell lines are associated with invasive potential. Redox Biol, 46: 102090.

- Zheng YZ, Liang L. (2018) High expression of PXDN is associated with poor prognosis and promotes proliferation, invasion as well as migration in ovarian cancer. Ann Diagn Pathol, 34: 161-165.
- 71. Dougan J, Hawsawi O, Burton LJ, Edwards G, Jones K, Zou J, Nagappan P, Wang G, Zhang Q, Danaher A, Bowen N, Hinton C, Odero-Marah VA. (2019) Proteomics-Metabolomics Combined Approach Identifies Peroxidasin as a Protector against Metabolic and Oxidative Stress in Prostate Cancer. Int J Mol Sci, 20.
- 72. Sasahira T, Kurihara M, Nishiguchi Y, Fujiwara R, Kirita T, Kuniyasu H. (2016) NEDD 4 binding protein 2-like 1 promotes cancer cell invasion in oral squamous cell carcinoma. Virchows Arch, 469: 163-172.
- Kurihara-Shimomura M, Sasahira T, Shimomura H, Kirita T. (2020) Peroxidan Plays a Tumor-Promoting Role in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Int J Mol Sci, 21.
- 74. Peterfi Z, Toth ZE, Kovacs HA, Lazar E, Sum A, Donko A, Sirokmany G, Shah AM, Geiszt M. (2014) Peroxidasin-like protein: a novel peroxidase homologue in the human heart. Cardiovasc Res, 101: 393-399.
- 75. Choi HK, Ford ES. (2007) Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in individuals with hyperuricemia. Am J Med, 120: 442-447.
- 76. Zheng LQ, Li J, Yu JM, Hasimu B, Hu DY. (2006) [Study on the independent association of uric acid levels with peripheral arterial disease in Chinese patients with coronary heart disease]. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi, 27: 161-164.
- 77. Li WD, Jiao H, Wang K, Zhang CK, Glessner JT, Grant SF, Zhao H, Hakonarson H, Arlen Price R. (2013) A genome wide association study of plasma uric acid levels in obese cases and never-overweight controls. Obesity (Silver Spring), 21: E490-494.
- 78. Pongor L, Kormos M, Hatzis C, Pusztai L, Szabo A, Gyorffy B. (2015) A genomewide approach to link genotype to clinical outcome by utilizing next generation

sequencing and gene chip data of 6,697 breast cancer patients. Genome Med, 7: 104.

- 79. Li Y, Jiao Y, Luo Z, Li Y, Liu Y. (2019) High peroxidasin-like expression is a potential and independent prognostic biomarker in breast cancer. Medicine (Baltimore), 98: e17703.
- Chen X, Long F, Cai B, Chen X, Qin L, Chen G. (2017) A Novel Relationship for Schizophrenia, Bipolar, and Major Depressive Disorder. Part 8: a Hint from Chromosome 8 High Density Association Screen. Mol Neurobiol, 54: 5868-5882.
- 81. Maddirevula S, AlZahrani F, Anazi S, Almureikhi M, Ben-Omran T, Abdel-Salam GMH, Hashem M, Ibrahim N, Abdulwahab FM, Meriki N, Bashiri FA, Thong MK, Muthukumarasamy P, Azwani Mazlan R, Shaheen R, Alkuraya FS. (2018) GWAS signals revisited using human knockouts. Genet Med, 20: 64-68.
- 82. Li AH, Hanchard NA, Azamian M, D'Alessandro LCA, Coban-Akdemir Z, Lopez KN, Hall NJ, Dickerson H, Nicosia A, Fernbach S, Boone PM, Gambin T, Karaca E, Gu S, Yuan B, Jhangiani SN, Doddapaneni H, Hu J, Dinh H, Jayaseelan J, Muzny D, Lalani S, Towbin J, Penny D, Fraser C, Martin J, Lupski JR, Gibbs RA, Boerwinkle E, Ware SM, Belmont JW. (2019) Genetic architecture of laterality defects revealed by whole exome sequencing. Eur J Hum Genet, 27: 563-573.
- 83. Barajas-Martinez H, Smith M, Hu D, Goodrow RJ, Puleo C, Hasdemir C, Antzelevitch C, Pfeiffer R, Treat JA, Cordeiro JM. (2020) Susceptibility to Ventricular Arrhythmias Resulting from Mutations in FKBP1B, PXDNL, and SCN9A Evaluated in hiPSC Cardiomyocytes. Stem Cells Int, 2020: 8842398.
- 84. LeBleu VS, Macdonald B, Kalluri R. (2007) Structure and function of basement membranes. Exp Biol Med (Maywood), 232: 1121-1129.
- Borza DB, Bondar O, Ninomiya Y, Sado Y, Naito I, Todd P, Hudson BG. (2001) The NC1 domain of collagen IV encodes a novel network composed of the alpha 1, alpha 2, alpha 5, and alpha 6 chains in smooth muscle basement membranes. J Biol Chem, 276: 28532-28540.
- Sanes JR. (1982) Laminin, fibronectin, and collagen in synaptic and extrasynaptic portions of muscle fiber basement membrane. J Cell Biol, 93: 442-451.
- Sekiguchi R, Yamada KM. (2018) Basement Membranes in Development and Disease. Curr Top Dev Biol, 130: 143-191.

- Khoshnoodi J, Pedchenko V, Hudson BG. (2008) Mammalian collagen IV. Microsc Res Tech, 71: 357-370.
- MacDonald BA, Sund M, Grant MA, Pfaff KL, Holthaus K, Zon LI, Kalluri R. (2006) Zebrafish to humans: evolution of the alpha3-chain of type IV collagen and emergence of the autoimmune epitopes associated with Goodpasture syndrome. Blood, 107: 1908-1915.
- 90. Sirokmany G, Kovacs HA, Lazar E, Konya K, Donko A, Enyedi B, Grasberger H, Geiszt M. (2018) Peroxidasin-mediated crosslinking of collagen IV is independent of NADPH oxidases. Redox Biol, 16: 314-321.
- 91. Doudna JA, Charpentier E. (2014) Genome editing. The new frontier of genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9. Science, 346: 1258096.
- 92. Cheng YW, Chao TL, Li CL, Chiu MF, Kao HC, Wang SH, Pang YH, Lin CH, Tsai YM, Lee WH, Tao MH, Ho TC, Wu PY, Jang LT, Chen PJ, Chang SY, Yeh SH. (2020) Furin Inhibitors Block SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein Cleavage to Suppress Virus Production and Cytopathic Effects. Cell Rep, 33: 108254.
- 93. Braun E, Sauter D. (2019) Furin-mediated protein processing in infectious diseases and cancer. Clin Transl Immunology, 8: e1073.
- Brandes RP, Schroder K. (2008) Composition and functions of vascular nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidases. Trends Cardiovasc Med, 18: 15-19.
- 95. Ambasta RK, Kumar P, Griendling KK, Schmidt HH, Busse R, Brandes RP. (2004) Direct interaction of the novel Nox proteins with p22phox is required for the formation of a functionally active NADPH oxidase. J Biol Chem, 279: 45935-45941.
- 96. Martyn KD, Frederick LM, von Loehneysen K, Dinauer MC, Knaus UG. (2006) Functional analysis of Nox4 reveals unique characteristics compared to other NADPH oxidases. Cell Signal, 18: 69-82.
- Donko A, Peterfi Z, Sum A, Leto T, Geiszt M. (2005) Dual oxidases. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 360: 2301-2308.
- Little AC, Sulovari A, Danyal K, Heppner DE, Seward DJ, van der Vliet A. (2017) Paradoxical roles of dual oxidases in cancer biology. Free Radic Biol Med, 110: 117-132.

- Spencer JD, Gibbons NC, Bohm M, Schallreuter KU. (2008) The Ca2+-binding capacity of epidermal furin is disrupted by H2O2-mediated oxidation in vitiligo. Endocrinology, 149: 1638-1645.
- Nauseef WM. (2018) Biosynthesis of human myeloperoxidase. Arch Biochem Biophys, 642: 1-9.
- Walls AC, Park YJ, Tortorici MA, Wall A, McGuire AT, Veesler D. (2020) Structure, Function, and Antigenicity of the SARS-CoV-2 Spike Glycoprotein. Cell, 181: 281-292 e286.
- 102. Sun J, He WT, Wang L, Lai A, Ji X, Zhai X, Li G, Suchard MA, Tian J, Zhou J, Veit M, Su S. (2020) COVID-19: Epidemiology, Evolution, and Cross-Disciplinary Perspectives. Trends Mol Med, 26: 483-495.
- 103. Coutard B, Valle C, de Lamballerie X, Canard B, Seidah NG, Decroly E. (2020) The spike glycoprotein of the new coronavirus 2019-nCoV contains a furin-like cleavage site absent in CoV of the same clade. Antiviral Res, 176: 104742.
- Kordyukova LV, Shanko AV. (2021) COVID-19: Myths and Reality. Biochemistry (Mosc), 86: 800-817.

8. Bibliography of the candidate's publications

The Ph.D. thesis is based on the following publications:

1. Kovács, Hajnal A.; Lázár, Enikő; Várady, György; Sirokmány, Gábor; Geiszt, Miklós

Characterization of the Proprotein Convertase-Mediated Processing of Peroxidasin and Peroxidasin-like Protein

ANTIOXIDANTS 10: 10 Paper: 1565, 17 p. (2021)

IF (2020): 6,312

2. Sirokmány, G; Kovács, HA; Lázár, E; Kónya, K; Donkó, Á; Enyedi, B; Grasberger, H; Geiszt, M

Peroxidasin-mediated crosslinking of collagen IV is independent of NADPH oxidases

REDOX BIOLOGY16 pp. 314-321., 8 p. (2018)

IF: 7,793

Other publications which are related to the Ph.D thesis:

3. Zana, M; Peterfi, Z; **Kovacs, HA**; Toth, ZE; Enyedi, B; Morel, F; Paclet, MH; Donko, A; Morand, S; Leto, TL; Geiszt, M

Interaction between p22(phox) and Nox4 in the endoplasmic reticulum suggests a unique mechanism of NADPH oxidase complex formation.

FREE RADICAL BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE116 pp. 41-49., 9 p. (2018)

IF: 5,657

4. Lázár, E; Péterfi, Z; Sirokmány, G; Kovács, HA; Klement, E; Medzihradszky, KF; Geiszt, M

Structure-function analysis of peroxidasin provides insight into the mechanism of collagen IV crosslinking

FREE RADICAL BIOLOGY AND MEDICINE83 pp. 273-282., 10 p. (2015)

IF: 5,784

5. Péterfi, Z; Tóth, ZE; Kovács, HA; Lázár, E; Sum, A; Donkó, Á; Sirokmány, G; Shah, AM; Geiszt, M

Peroxidasin-like protein: A novel peroxidase homologue in the human heart

CARDIOVASCULAR RESEARCH 101: 3 pp. 393-399., 7 p. (2014)

IF: 5,940

9. Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Miklós Geiszt, who, as the leader of our laboratory, accepted and supervised me first as a TDK student and later on as a Ph.D. student. He provided me with excellent support, creative ideas, and professional guidance. I could always ask him questions, and he always encouraged me to learn how to conduct and plan experiments independently.

I want to thank Prof. László Hunyady, who, as the head of the Physiology Department, accepted me as a TDK and later on as a Ph.D. student, and I had the opportunity to work in the department.

I want to express my gratitude to Prof. Erzsébet Ligeti, who supervised my Ph.D. research as the leader in the Cellular and Molecular Physiology program.

I want to express my gratitude to Prof. Péter Enyedi, who supervised my Ph.D. research as the current leader of the Molecular Medicine Doctoral School.

I want to thank Dr. Zalán Péterfi, who supervised my TDK years and taught me the necessary manual and theoretical skills for laboratory work in the Geiszt lab. I especially say thanks to Dr. Ágnes Donkó and Dr. Gábor Sirokmány. They gave me great support during my work as a Ph.D. student. I also would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Enikő Lázár, whose work in the Geiszt lab significantly contributed to my projects. Furthermore, I would like to say thanks for the technical assistance to Beáta Molnár and Barbara Bodor-Kis. I also had the pleasure to work in a great supportive environment thanks to the other members of the Geiszt lab: Dr. Bernadett Trencsényiné Balázs, Dr. Veronika F.S. Pape, Dr. Anna Pató, Dr. Gábor Petheő and Zsolt Szeles. Also former members of the Geiszt lab meant a big support during this project: Dr. Melinda Zana, Dr. Balázs Enyedi, Mónika Baráth, and Dr. Máté Mihálffy. Finally, my former TDK student Dr. Eleonóra Tóth gave me considerable aid in the early years of my Ph.D. work.

I am grateful to Dr. György Várady from the Research Center for Natural Sciences, Institute of Enzymology, who helped to select PXDN-deficient PFHR-9 cells.

I am thankful to all the former and current members of the Physiology Department for making a creative, supportive, friendly work environment.

Last but not least, I am grateful to my Husband, Mother, Father, and Sister for their continuous support during these years. Without them, this Ph.D. work couldn't be fulfilled.